
Vestavia Hills 
City Council Agenda 

May 13, 2019 
6:00 PM 

1. Call to Order              

2. Roll Call 

3. Invocation – Jim Cartledge, Vestavia Hills Chaplain 

4. Pledge Of Allegiance  

5. Announcements and Guest Recognition 

6. Proclamation – National Public Works Week – May 19-25, 2019 

7. Proclamation – National Police Week – May 12-18, 20  

8. Proclamation – Peace Officers Memorial Day – May 15, 2019 

9. City Manager’s Report 

10. Councilors’ Reports 

11. Financial Report – Melvin Turner, III, Finance Director 

12. Approval of Minutes – April 10 & 16, 2019 (Work Session); April 15, 2019 (Work Session) 

and April 22, 2019 (Regular Meeting) 

Old Business 

13. Ordinance Number 2840 – Conditional Use Approval – 1506-1514 Montgomery Highway; 

Royal Automotive; Conditional Use Approval To Allow Lamar Advertising To Dismantle 

Sixteen Billboard Faces On Eight Free Standing Structures Within The City Limit Of The 

City Of Vestavia Hills And Allow The Erection And Operation Of An Free Standing 

Billboard Structure With Two Faces – One Face Reading To I-65 And The Other Reading 

To Montgomery Highway  (public hearing) 

14. Ordinance Number 2846 – An Ordinance Changing Polling Places In The City From The 

Cahaba Heights Senior Center To The Cahaba Heights Baptist Church   (public hearing) 

New Business 

15. Citizen Address To The City Council – Dennis Hardy 

New Business (Requesting Unanimous Consent) 

16. Ordinance Number 2848 - A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Execute And 

Deliver All Documents Needed In Order To Acquire Rights-Of-Way And Easements For 



Improvements Along Crosshaven Drive pursuant to the Infrastructure and Community 

Spaces Plan   (public hearing) 

17. Resolution Number 5157 – A Resolution authorizing the City Manager to accept proposals 

for professional services for construction of a road to connect Blue Lake Drive with 

Timberlake Road   (public hearing) 

18. Resolution Number 5160 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Take All 

Action Necessary To Replace A 2.5 Ton Gas Pack Roof Top Air Conditional Unit At James 

F. Wyatt Fire Station Number 5   (public hearing) 

First Reading (No Action To Be Taken At This Meeting) 

19. Resolution Number 5158 – A Resolution Accepting A Bid For Construction Of A 

Pedestrian Tunnel Under Sicard Hollow Road   (public hearing) 

20. Resolution Number 5159 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Execute And 

Deliver An Agreement For CEI Services For A Pedestrian Tunnel Under Sicard Hollow 

Road  Road   (public hearing) 

21. Citizen Comments      

22. Motion For Adjournment 



 
WHEREAS, public works services provided in our community are an integral part of our 

citizens’ everyday lives; and 
 
WHEREAS, the support of an understanding and informed citizenry is vital to the efficient 

operation of public works systems and programs such as water, sewers, streets and 
highways, public buildings, and solid waste collection; and   

 
WHEREAS, the health, safety and comfort of this community greatly depends on these 

facilities and services; and  
 
WHEREAS, the quality and effectiveness of these facilities, as well as their planning, design, 

and construction, are vitally dependent upon the efforts and skill of public works 
officials; and  

 
WHEREAS, the efficiency of the qualified and dedicated personnel who staff public works 

departments is materially influenced by the people’s attitude and understanding of 
the importance of the work they perform.   

 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Ashley C. Curry, by virtue of the authority vested in me as Mayor of the 

City of Vestavia Hills in the State of Alabama, do hereby proclaim May 19 – 25, 
2019 as  

 
  NATIONAL PUBLIC WORKS WEEK 

 
in Vestavia Hills and call upon all citizens and civic organizations to acquaint 
themselves with the issues involved in providing our public works and to 
recognize the contributions which public works officials make every day to our 
health, safety, comfort and quality of life. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have 
hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal 
of the City of Vestavia Hills to be affixed 
this the 1st day of May 2019. 
 
 
 
__________________________________
______ 
Ashley C. Curry 
Mayor 
 



 
WHEREAS, the Congress and President of the United States have designated the week of May 

12-19, 2019 as “National Police Week” and May 15 as “Peace Officers Memorial 
Day;” and 

 
WHEREAS, the members of the Vestavia Hills Police Department play an essential role in 

safeguarding the rights and freedoms of the public and provide a critical public 
service to the community; and   

 
WHEREAS, it is important that all citizens understand the challenges, duties, and 

responsibilities of their police department; and, that members of our Police 
Department recognize their duty to serve the people by safeguarding life and 
property, by protecting them against violence and disorder, and by protecting the 
innocent against deception and the weak against oppression and intimidation; and  

 
WHEREAS,   it is well known and accepted that law enforcement is an inherently dangerous and 

demanding profession in which dedicated professionals knowingly place their 
lives in harm’s way to protect others who are unable to protect themselves. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Ashley C. Curry, by virtue of the authority vested in me as Mayor of the 

City of Vestavia Hills in the State of Alabama, do hereby proclaim May 12-18, 
2019 and May 15, 2019 as  

 
NATIONAL POLICE WEEK 

and 
PEACE OFFICERS MEMORIAL DAY 

 
and hereby express our continued support of the Vestavia Hills Police Department 
and all peace officers throughout our nation in their efforts to build safer and more 
secure communities. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have 
hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal 
of the City of Vestavia Hills to be affixed 
this the 1st day of May 2019. 
 
 
 
__________________________________
______ 
Ashley C. Curry 
Mayor 
 
 



City Council Work Session Minutes 
Page 1 

 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

WORK SESSION 
 

APRIL 10 & APRIL 16, 2019 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in a special called work session on this in 
the Executive Conference Room at 8:00 AM, following posting/publication as required by 
Alabama law.  The Clerk checked the roll with the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Ashley C. Curry 

Kimberly Cook, Councilor 
      Paul J. Head, Councilor 
      George Pierce, Councilor 
      Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem 
 
 The Mayor called the work session to order.  The following applicants were 
interviewed by the City Council: 
 

8:00 AM Mark “Todd” Bailey 
9:00 AM Scott S. Brown 
10:00 AM Jaclyn Hudson 
11:00 AM Corey Milner 
12:00 PM Lunch 
1 PM  French McMillan 
2 PM  Tealla Stewart 

 
 There being no further business, the work session recessed until 8:00 AM, April 
16, 2019. 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met to continue a special called work session 
on this in the Executive Conference Room at 8:00 AM, following posting/publication as 
required by Alabama law.  The Clerk checked the roll with the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Ashley C. Curry 

Kimberly Cook, Councilor 
      Paul J. Head, Councilor 
      George Pierce, Councilor 
      Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem 
 
 



City Council Work Session Minutes 
Page 2 

 

 The Mayor called the meeting back to order.  The following applicants were 
interviewed by the Council: 
 

8:00 AM Brian Demarco 
9:00 AM Jeffrey M. Florio 
10:00 AM Steven Shepherd 

 
 The Council discussed the candidates and their qualifications. Mrs. Cook indicated 
she would be calling references and people who knew the candidates well to gather as much 
information as possible about the candidates, before making her final selection, and 
suggested others do the same. 
 
 There being no further business, work session adjourned at 11:20 AM. 
 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



City Council Work Session Minutes 
Page 1 

 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

WORK SESSION 
 

APRIL 15, 2019 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in a regular scheduled work session on this 
day in the Executive Conference Room at 6:00 PM, following posting/publication as 
required by Alabama law.  The Clerk checked the roll with the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Ashley C. Curry 

Kimberly Cook, Councilor 
      Paul J. Head, Councilor 
      George Pierce, Councilor 
      Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager  
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      Brian Davis, Public Services Director 

Marvin Green, Fire Chief 
Cinnamon McCulley, Communications Specialist 
Jason Hardin, Police Captain 
Christopher Brady, City Engineer 
Umang Patel, Court Director 

 
 The Mayor called the work session to order.   
 
 

MAYOR’S ASSOCIATION ACTIVITIES 
 
 Mayor Curry gave a report on committees recently formed including a 9-1-1 
Committee to promote regional cooperation for 9-1-1 services.  He stated that was tried 
previously in the past with Vestavia Hills and some sister cities and ended with the City 
going to Shelby County for these services.   
 
 The Mayor stated that the Mayor’s Association recently signed a “good neighbor 
pledge” to indicate that cities will not actively “poach” businesses from other cities in an 
effort to have them relocate to their city.  He stated that he did sign off on that pledge and 
indicated that any incentive packages for businesses would have to be approved by the 
Council. 
 



City Council Work Session Minutes 
Page 2 

 

 Mrs. Cook stated agreements must be approved by joint Resolution of the Council 
in order to bind the City. 
 

OUTDOOR ADVERTISING 
 
 The Mayor introduced Wayne Gillis, a resident of the City and an area expert on 
digital billboards. 
 
 Mr. Gillis described billboard advertising versus digital billboard advertising.  He 
gave facts and figures on the construction, revenues, and purpose of electronic advertising. 
 
 The Mayor indicated that a request from Lamar will be on the next agenda and that 
he felt a little due diligence into electronic advertising would be beneficial to the Council 
in deciding that issue. 
 
 Mrs. Cook suggested that, given the high potential revenue of the digital sign, she 
thought we could do better than a 6:1 trade (traditional billboard: digital billboard) and 
asked if the Mayor and a member of the Council could meet with a Lamar representative 
to negotiate a deal more favorable to the City before the next meeting. 
 
 

UPDATE ON COMMUNITY SPACES PLAN 
 
 Mr. Downes and Raynor Boles, TCU, gave updates on the bidding for the Cahaba 
Heights renovations, saying bids will open soon and updates on other projects would follow 
at a later date. 
 
 Discussion ensued as to preference for artificial turf in order to curtail down field 
use time.  Mr. Boles stated that the bidding would include a provision for artificial turf and 
the decision would be up to the Council when the figures are presented. 
 
 Mr. Boles gave an update on the Crosshaven ROW acquisition.  He stated that this 
task has been turned over to attorney Martin Evans, and work is continuing under Mr. 
Evans’s direction.  He stated that appraisals and re-appraisals are being done because of 
the utilization of federal dollars in the project. 
 
 

MUNICIPAL COURT TECHNOLOGY FUND 
 
 Umang Patel, Court Director, addressed the Council and explained an ordinance 
revision that will appear on the next agenda, establishing a municipal court technology 
fund to offset purchase of a much-needed upgrade to the computer system for municipal 
court.  He stated that this is not approval of an increase in revenue, but rather a diversion 
of existing revenue from the General Fund to this new fund. 
 
 



City Council Work Session Minutes 
Page 3 

 

PROJECT UPDATES 
 
Mr. Downes updated the Council on the following: 

 Planned Road Construction Connecting Blue Lake Drive and Timberlake Drive 
o Mr. Downes briefed the Council on the latest negotiations concerning the 

road connection. 
o Property owners have agreed to pursue a mutually acceptable property 

conveyance to make this project a reality. 
o Funds to pay for survey, appraisal and engineering expenses would be 

needed to move this project to the next phase. Funds exist in the General 
and Gas Tax funds to handle such expenses. After initial evaluation, the 
project would be brought back to the City Council for consideration of full 
project approval. The Council concurred with this approach. 

 Overton Road – APPLE Grant 
o The City of Mountain Brook has applied and received an APPLE planning 

grant to study traffic along Overton Rd. This included an emphasis on the 
Wellington Place neighborhood intersection. The City of Vestavia Hills 
will help offset the grant match for this project picking up $4,000 expense 
with Mt Brook expending $8,000. 

 
 
 There being no further business, the work session adjourned at 7;45 PM. 
 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



City Council Minutes 
April 22, 2019 

Page 1 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

APRIL 22, 2019 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in regular session on this date at 6:00 PM, 
following publication and posting pursuant to Alabama law.  Mayor Curry called the meeting to 
order and the City Clerk called the roll with the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:    Mayor Ashley C. Curry  

Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem 
      Kimberly Cook, Councilor  

Paul Head, Councilor 
      George Pierce, Councilor 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager 
      Patrick H. Boone, City Attorney 
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      Melvin Turner, Finance Director 
      George Sawaya, Asst. Finance Director 
      Jason Hardin, Police Captain 
      Johnny Evans, Police Captain 
      Umang Patel, Court Director 
      Marvin Green, Fire Chief 
      Brian Davis, Public Services Director 
 

Marlon Ellington, Vestavia Hills Chaplain, led the invocation followed by the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS, GUEST RECOGNITION  
 

 Mrs. Cook stated there is a school board work session and meeting next Monday 
beginning at 3:15 PM. 

 Mr. Pierce recognized Chamber members Becky Abbott and Gary Jordan. 
 The Mayor welcomed a group of high school students who were attending the meeting for 

their civics class. 
 
 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
April 22, 2019 

Page 2 
 

 
PROCLAMATION – NATIONAL GET ON BOARD DAY – APRIL 25, 2019 

 
 The Mayor presented a proclamation designating April 25, 2019, as National Get On 
Board Day.  Mr. Downes read the proclamation and the Mayor presented it Donald Harwell, the 
City’s representative member to the BJCTA Board.  He thanked Mr. Harwell for his service on 
this very important Board. 
 
 Mr. Harwell thanked the Council and indicated that Thursday is the day to ride the bus for 
free. 
 
  

PROCLAMATION – MUNICIPAL CLERKS WEEK – MAY 5-11, 2019 
 
 The Mayor presented a proclamation designating May 5-11, 2019, as Municipal Clerk’s 
Week.  Mr. Downes read the proclamation and the Mayor presented it Rebecca Leavings, 
Municipal Clerk for the City in honor of the work she does in performance of her duties. 
 
 Mrs. Cook stated that, before she became a Councilor, she had no idea how many different 
duties a City Clerk actually performs. She commended Mrs. Leavings on her excellent work for 
the City and said Mrs. Leavings was an important part of the City staff team. 
 
 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

 Mr. Downes highlighted the status some items of legislation progressing through the 
Alabama Legislature, including the Tier I/Tier II bill, which was supported by the City 
Council. 

 Mr. Downes stated that he received the first batch of property appraisals for the offers of 
the rights-of-way for Crosshaven Drive.  He stated that any questions concerning the 
offers from the appraisals should come to him and that he is leaning on these appraisals. 

 
 

COUNCILOR REPORTS 
 

 Mr. Pierce stated that he attended the last Chamber Board meeting, at which they began 
planning I Love America Day, which will be held at the Vestavia Hills High School, due 
to the construction at Wald Park. 

 The Mayor announced the 29th Annual Mayor’s Prayer Breakfast with keynote speaker, 
Micah McElveen of Vapor Ministries. 

 Mr. Weaver stated that there are a number of zoning cases to be considered tonight which 
were considered by the Planning and Zoning Commission at a previous meeting. 

 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
April 22, 2019 

Page 3 
 

 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
 The minutes of the following meeting were presented for approval:  April 8, 2019 (regular 
meeting). 
 
MOTION Motion to dispense with the reading of the minutes of the April 8, 2019 (regular 

meeting) and approve them as presented was by Mr. Weaver and second by Mrs. 
Cook.    Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2840 
 

Ordinance Number 2840 – Conditional Use Approval – 1506-1514 Montgomery Highway; 
Royal Automotive; Conditional Use Approval To Allow Lamar Advertising 
To Dismantle Twelve Billboard Faces On Six Free Standing Structures 
Within The City Limit Of The City Of Vestavia Hills And Allow The Erection 
And Operation Of An Free Standing Billboard Structure With Two Faces – 
One Face Reading To I-65 And The Other Reading To Montgomery Highway  
(public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2840 was by Mr. Weaver seconded by Mr. 

Pierce. 
 
 Tom Traylor, Lamar Advertising, was present in regard to this request. 
 
 The Mayor stated that he has had discussions with Mr. Traylor regarding this and has 
negotiated the removal of eight billboards instead of the original six.  He stated that he is 
requesting that this item be delayed until May 13, 2019.  He read the amended Ordinance as a 
first read.  The Mayor opened the floor for a motion. 
 
MOTION Motion to postpone consideration and public hearing of Ordinance Number 2840 
was by Mr. Pierce and second was by Mr. Weaver.  Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
April 22, 2019 

Page 4 
 

 
ORDINANCE NUMBER 2838 

 
Ordinance Number 2838 – Conditional Use Approval – 3788 Crosshaven Drive; Lot 5 And 

The N 20’ Of Lot 4, Block 1, Glass’ 3rd Add To New Merkle; Conditional 
Use For Beekeeping; Installation And Maintenance Of Four (4) Beehives; 
St. Stephens Episcopal Church    (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2838 was by Mr. Weaver seconded by 

Mrs. Cook.   
 
 Mr. Weaver stated that this request, to allow installation of four beehives, was heard by 
Planning and Zoning.  He stated that the nearest residence is over 200’ away and the hives will 
have a 6’ fence around it.  He stated it was unanimously recommended for approval by the 
Planning and Zoning Commission. 
 
 Chris Williams, member of St. Stephens Church, was present in regard to the request. 
 
 Mrs. Cook asked about the purpose of this requested use. 
 
 Mr. Williams stated that they would like to have a community garden there, eventually, 
and there are several members who are experienced in beekeeping, so they got together and 
wanted to use the property for this purpose. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one further to address 
the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2839 
 

Ordinance Number 2839 – Conditional Use Approval – 1476 Montgomery Highway; 
Conditional Use Approval For The Purpose Of Automotive Sales, Automotive 
Services – Major And Minor, Including But Not Limited To Mechanical And 
Collision Repair; Serra Automotive   (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2839 was by Mr. Weaver, seconded by Mrs. 

Cook. 
 
 No one was present in regard to this request. 
 
 Mr. Weaver stated that this came to Planning and Zoning with another extension.  Previous 
dealerships have closed due to flooding and remedial steps have been taken to reduce flooding 



City Council Minutes 
April 22, 2019 

Page 5 
 

risk. Serra wishes to reopen the dealership and this request was unanimously recommended for 
approval by the Planning and Zoning Commission. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one further to address 
the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2835 
 

Ordinance Number 2835 – Rezoning – 3984 And 3988 Natchez Drive; Lots 2 & 3, Block 1, 
Hermitage Forest 1st Sector; Rezone From Vestavia Hills R-4 To Vestavia 
Hills R-9; Arthur Powell, Owner  (public hearing)   

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2835 was by Mr. Weaver, seconded by Mr. 

Head. 
 
 Mr. Weaver explained that this request is to demolish two duplexes and build five single-
family homes.  The request was unanimously recommended for approval by the Planning and 
Zoning Commission. 
 
 Jason Kessler, developer, stated these will be single-family detached homes, with sewer 
connections.  Each lot will be 47’ X 150 with two-car main-level garages to allow on-site parking. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one further to address 
the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2836 
 

Ordinance Number 2836 – Rezoning – 3785 Glass Drive; Lot 29, Glass’ 3rd Add To New 
Merkle; Rezoning From Vestavia Hills R-4 To Vestavia Hills R-9; Tucker 
And Company, LLC    (public hearing)   

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2836 was by Mr. Pierce, seconded by Mr. 

Weaver. 
 
 Mr. Weaver stated that this is a unique lot with a small flag line for sewer connection.  
Current specifications from Jefferson County Environmental Services does not allow their sewers 
to be located in an easement.  This was unanimously recommended for approval. 
 



City Council Minutes 
April 22, 2019 

Page 6 
 

 Mr. Brady explained the purpose to request the R-9 zoning classification for this and the 
following property in order to construct a single-family home on each lot. 
 
 Jason Kessler was present in regard to this request. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one further to address 
the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2837 
 

Ordinance Number 2837 – Rezoning – 3784 Poe Drive; Lot 8, Block 3, Glass’ 3rd Add To 
New Merkle; Rezoning From Vestavia Hills R-4 To Vestavia Hills R-9; 
Jonathan B. Culver    (public hearing)  

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2837 was by Mr. Weaver, seconded by Mrs. 

Cook. 
 
 The Mayor stated that this property is adjacent to the property in the previous request and 
is the same type of request. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one further to address 
the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2841 
 

Ordinance Number 2841 - An Ordinance Amending Section 5 Of Ordinance Number 2427 
And Section 10-14(E), Vestavia Hills Code Of Ordinances, Rep. 2013 Entitled 
“Educational Programs”    (public hearing)  

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2841 was by Mr. Weaver, seconded by Mr. 

Pierce. 
 
 Umang Patel, Court Director, explained that this establishes a court technology fund, 
which will be funded through a portion of the fees already collected from defensive driving.  He 
estimates that this would put about $25,000 into the fund each year to eventually help to upgrade 
the court’s computer system. 
 



City Council Minutes 
April 22, 2019 

Page 7 
 

 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one further to address 
the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2842 
 

Ordinance Number 2842 – Annexation – Overnight – Magnolia Cove Subdivision; Lots 1 
through 13; Chase Beard, et al, Owners   (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2842 was by Mr. Weaver, seconded by Mrs. 

Cook. 
 
 Mr. Pierce stated that the 90-day annexation was begun, previously, and this is following 
that up with an overnight annexation. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one further to address 
the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

NEW BUSINESS  
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5152 
 

Resolution Number 5152 - A Resolution appointing a member to the Vestavia Hills Board 
of Education 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5152 was by Mrs. Cook, seconded by Mr. 

Weaver. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a motion to amend in order to nominate an appointee. 
 
 Mrs. Cook read the following statement: 
 

“Before I make my motion, I want to share the process I went through in choosing 
the person who I will nominate.  
 
I am the education liaison, so I spend a lot of time attending board meetings, PTO 
meetings and listening to my constituents about issues. I feel a heavy responsibility 
for this decision because I am more passionate about our schools than any other 
issue. It is the reason I ran for city council.  



City Council Minutes 
April 22, 2019 

Page 8 
 

 
Because of this, I am committed to not just selecting a good candidate, but to choose 
the very best candidate for this time and this board. 
 
People in our community could say about many of our candidates, “How could you 
not pick that person?”, and they would be right. We have a great pool of 
candidates, so it is not surprising that it is hard to make a choice.  
 
I also think it is important for the community to understand we can only pick one 
person to ultimately support. This doesn’t mean we don’t find value and great 
qualifications in other candidates. I certainly hope our candidates realize this and 
know we appreciate their application. 
 
What was our process?  
 We received applications. 
 We interviewed candidates. 
 If I had questions, I contacted the candidates directly to get answers.  
 I called references and listened to people in the community.  
 
I worked hard to ask lots of questions so that we would have an accurate picture of 
the candidates. I wanted to make sure we had more than a snapshot—we wanted 
the full picture. 
 
Then, at the end of a long two weeks, I made my decision, knowing full well that 
any applicant I chose would make some people happy and some people unhappy. I 
have found that choosing the best fit does not follow hard and fast rules—in any 
given year, it’s all about what you value most, the needs of the board at the time 
and the degree to which you think a candidate meets those values. 
 
What attributes and qualifications was I looking for this time?  This is the most 
important question to answer first. 
 
I wanted a board member who would represent the community. The board is an 
extension of the community and the council. 
 
I wanted a candidate who would approach issues objectively, reach independent 
conclusions and then work with the board to achieve consensus--someone who 
would work as a part of a whole board team and not be afraid to speak up. 
 
I wanted a candidate who clearly understands current challenges the board faces. 
 
I wanted a candidate who would promote transparency, being an ambassador in 
the community and asking questions in board meetings so that the public can better 
understand board decisions and what is going on in our schools. 
 



City Council Minutes 
April 22, 2019 

Page 9 
 

I wanted a candidate who demonstrated the ability think critically, to provide 
oversight and fulfill the board’s fiduciary responsibility. I want someone who will 
dig into concerns and not be shy about talking to the superintendent and rest of 
the board—someone who would have the confidence to function as a full member 
of the board. 
 
This is not a comprehensive list, but these are my top priorities. There are lots of 
other things that are pluses, but I’ve got to have these strengths in my candidate. 
 
Weighing these priorities, I came to the conclusion that Tealla Stewart was my top 
pick.  
 
What did I hear in Tealla’s interview and from her references that stood out? 
 

 She stated her first priority is to represent the people of VH and to be the eyes and 
ears of the superintendent in the community; she said she would work to promote 
open communication between the board and the council and make board processes 
as transparent as possible, while understanding there are some things that cannot 
be openly shared.  

 She had the insight to know that some of the challenges our system faces are  
 strategic planning for future facility needs 
 budgeting for these future needs 
 ensuring a smooth transition with the opening of our new schools 
 the importance of parity--providing the same great experiences at 

all of our schools.  
 
Of all the candidates, I thought she had the best understanding of the issues 
facing the board and had the right attitude about how she could help. She already 
understands the role of a board member and has demonstrated she works with 
the team. She may not have always agreed with decisions, but she helped present 
a united front to the community once a difficult decision was made. 
 

 I closely questioned the community about Tealla and I am confident she is a 
boardsman of the highest caliber--ready to work with our team. Even though she 
faced some difficult situations in her previous tenure, the interim superintendent 
during that time said she worked with her board team to make some tough 
decisions, while staying within the bounds of the law and her proper role as a 
school board member. She didn’t make these decisions individually, but as a 
member of a board—a team. Ultimately, these decisions got us out of a tough spot 
and led to the continuing success of our system. This shows leadership and courage. 
 

 When discussing candidates, Councilor Head said, “Our system needs to move 
forward.” It is not just the superintendent’s job to move the system forward. He 
needs the support of a board that is paying attention, sharing observations and 
setting policies. Tealla understands the challenges and will not be shy about 
sharing with the superintendent behind the scenes to help him move our schools 



City Council Minutes 
April 22, 2019 

Page 10 
 

forward. She will be open to discovering what the other board members think in 
making decisions. 
 

 Our teachers and families want stability and experience at this time of transition 
in our schools. I attend the public meetings and I talk to parents; I know this is 
important. Tealla understands this too because she has been at those same 
meetings. She mentioned in her interview that, in her business, she has the 
opportunity to serve people from all parts of our city. Ordinarily, I would say, “Give 
someone else a chance,” but this is a time that wants experience and maturity. She 
has the perspective of a teacher, a board member, a business owner and an active 
member of the community. 
 

 The council wants a person who understands that she is an extension of this 
Council. Tealla has said that she would be excited to work with each one of the 
councilors, as well as the community. She understands the Council is a 
stakeholder too.  
 
As I said at the beginning, choosing one is hard when there were many fine, 
qualified candidates, and I know we have individually wrestled with this decision. 
But, Tealla Stewart is the candidate I feel will best serve. 
 
So, Council, at this time, I make a motion to appoint Tealla Stewart to fill the open 
seat on our school board and I ask for your support and consideration of my 
reasons for supporting her.” 

 
MOTION Motion to amend Resolution Number 5152 to nominate Tealla Stewart was by 

Mrs. Cook, seconded by Mr. Pierce.  Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – no    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – no    
   Mayor Curry – no    Motion failed. 
 
MOTION  Motion to amend Resolution Number 5152 to nominate Steven Shepherd was by 

Mrs. Cook.  Mrs. Cook cited reasons for her nomination.  The Mayor passed the 
gavel to the Mayor Pro-Tem and seconded the motion.  The Mayor Pro-Tem called 
for the question.  Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – no    
   Mr. Pierce – no   Mr. Weaver – no    
   Mayor Curry – no    Motion failed. 
 
MOTION Motion to amend Resolution Number 5152 to nominate Jaclyn Hudson was by 

Mayor Curry, seconded by Mr. Head.  The Mayor Pro-Tem called for the question.  
Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – no   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – no   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 



City Council Minutes 
April 22, 2019 

Page 11 
 

 There being no one further to address the Council, the Mayor Pro-Tem called for the 
question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 

The Mayor Pro-Tem passed the gavel to the Mayor.   
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5153 
 

Resolution Number 5153 - Alcohol License – Tazikis Mediterranean Café; 1425 
Montgomery Highway, Suite 199; John Michael Bodnar, James Matthew 
Bodnar, Gerald Edison Rushton, Jr., Executives   (public hearing) 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5153 was by Mr. Weaver, seconded by 

Mrs. Cook. 
 
 Adam Calvert, Tazikis, explained the request for the license due to new restaurant. 
 
 Mr. Pierce asked about training of employees. 
 
 Mr. Calvert explained that they use an in-house training process called Create and stated 
that this is an ongoing training program and is primarily dedicated to front-end cashiers.  He stated 
they plan to open April 30, 2019. 
 
 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one further to address 
the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5154 
 

Resolution Number 5154 – A Resolution of the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills In Opposition To Proposed Senate Bill 264 Regarding Small 
Cell Technology 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5154 was by Mr. Weaver, seconded by Mr. 

Pierce. 
 
 The Mayor gave a brief background of this proposed legislation and indicated this shows 
the Council’s opposition to the legislation as it inhibits municipal powers to regulate the 
installation of these utilities and poles. 
 



City Council Minutes 
April 22, 2019 

Page 12 
 

 There being no one further to address the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing 
and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5155 
 

Resolution Number 5155 – A Resolution Changing The City Officials Designated And 
Authorized To Sign Checks And Drafts For Payments From City Of Vestavia 
Hills Accounts On Deposit In The Regions For The Court Bond Account 

 
 Mr. Patel stated that this designates the magistrates within the courts that can sign checks 
from the City’s bond account. 
 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5155 was by Mrs. Cook, seconded by Mr. 

Head. 
 
 There being no one further to address the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing 
and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 5156 
 

Resolution Number 5156 – A Resolution Renaming The Street Magnolia Cove To Magnolia 
Cove Road 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 5156 was by Mr. Weaver, seconded by Mr. 

Pierce. 
 
 The Mayor stated that this Resolution renames Magnolia Cove to Magnolia Cove Road, 
which is the name used by the residents.  This subdivision was annexed earlier in the meeting. 
 
 There being no one further to address the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing 
and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
April 22, 2019 

Page 13 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2844 
 

Ordinance Number 2844 – Annual Jefferson County Tax Levy 
 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2844 was by Mr. Weaver, seconded by Mr. 

Head. 
 
 The Mayor explained that this is the annual tax levy authorizing Jefferson County to assess 
and collect municipal taxes pursuant to Alabama law. 
 
 There being no one further to address the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing 
and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2845 
 

Ordinance Number 2845 – Annual Shelby County Tax Levy 
 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2845 was by Mr. Weaver, seconded by Mr. 

Head. 
 
 The mayor explained that this is the annual tax levy authorizing Shelby County to assess 
and collect municipal taxes pursuant to Alabama law. 
 
 There being no one further to address the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing 
and called for the question. 
   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes    
   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes    
   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 
 
 

NEW BUSINESS (UNANIMOUS CONSENT REQUESTED) 
 
 
FIRST READING (NO ACTION TO BE TAKEN AT THIS MEETING)  
 
 The Mayor stated that the following resolutions and/or ordinances will be presented at a 
public hearing at the Council’s next regular meeting on May 13, 2019, at 6:00 PM. 

 Ordinance Number 2846 – An Ordinance Changing Polling Places In The City From The 
Cahaba Heights Senior Center To The Cahaba Heights Baptist Church   (public hearing) 

 Ordinance Number 2840 – Conditional Use Approval – 1506-1514 Montgomery 
Highway; Royal Automotive; Conditional Use Approval To Allow Lamar Advertising 



City Council Minutes 
April 22, 2019 

Page 14 
 

To Dismantle Sixteen Billboard Faces On Eight Free Standing Structures Within The 
City Limit Of The City Of Vestavia Hills And Allow The Erection And Operation Of An 
Free Standing Billboard Structure With Two Faces – One Face Reading To I-65 And The 
Other Reading To Montgomery Highway  (public hearing) 

 
 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
 Patrick Dewees, 3068 Asbury Park Place, asked about the moving of the polling place in 
Cahaba Heights to the Cahaba Heights Baptist Church and wanted to ensure that residents knew 
to go there for both general and municipal elections. 
 
 The Mayor stated that this polling place mirrors the County’s polling place and should be 
for all elections for those who normally vote at New Merkel House. 
 
 Mrs. Leavings stated that Jefferson County would be notifying the affected voters. 
 
 At 7:00 PM, Mr. Weaver made a motion to adjourn.  The meeting adjourned at 7:01 PM. 
 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Ordinance Number 2840 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2840 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING CONDITIONAL USE APPROVAL 
ON THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1506-1514 MONTGOMERY 
HIGHWAY; ROYAL AUTOMOTIVE, OWNERS; CONDITIONAL 
USE APPROVAL TO ALLOW LAMAR ADVERTISING TO 
DISMANTLE FOURTEEN BILLBOARD FACES ON SEVEN FREE 
STANDING STRUCTURES WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF THE 
CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS AND TWO BILLBOARD FACES ON 
A SINGLE STRUCTURE LOCATED JUST BEYOND THE 
CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS IN 
ORDER TO ALLOW THE ERECTION AND OPERATION OF AN 
FREE STANDING BILLBOARD STRUCTURE WITH TWO 
ELECTRONIC DIGITAL FACES – ONE FACE READING TO I-65 
AND THE OTHER READING TO MONTGOMERY HIGHWAY 

 
 WHEREAS, on December 13, 2010, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted and approved Ordinance Number 2331, also known as the City of 

Vestavia Hills Zoning Code; and 

 WHEREAS, Gregory L. Belcher, Royal Automotive, Inc., are owners of the 

property located at 1506-1514 Montgomery Highway zoned Vestavia Hills B-3 (business 

district); and 

 WHEREAS, Royal Automotive, Inc., has offered to lease to Lamar Advertising an 

area of the above referenced property for erection of a billboard for a period of ten years; 

and 

 WHEREAS, Tom Traylor, Lamar Advertising, presented an application for 

Conditional Use approval for the purpose of erecting a new freestanding billboard structure 

upon the property located at 1506-1514 Montgomery Highway for the purpose of digital 

advertising; and 

 WHEREAS, Lamar Advertising has indicated that said Conditional Use approval 

shall be conditioned upon the dismantling and permanent removal of sixteen existing 

billboard faces on eight freestanding structures located in other areas within and near the 

corporate limits of the City; and 

 WHEREAS, a copy of the application for Conditional Use approval by Lamar 

Advertising detailing the locations of the structures to be removed, the existing structures 

to remain within the City and information concerning the new freestanding structure to be 



Ordinance Number 2840 
Page 2 

 

constructed is marked as Exhibit A, attached to and incorporated into this Ordinance 

Number 2840 as though written fully therein. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. Conditional Use Approval is hereby granted for Lamar Advertising to dismantle 

and permanently remove sixteen billboard faces on eight existing billboard 

structures located in various areas of the City and just outside the corporate 

boundaries as detailed in the attached Exhibit A and, upon doing so, to construct 

and operate a single billboard structure with two digital faces – one face to read 

to I-65 northbound traffic and the other to read to Montgomery Highway south 

bound traffic; and 

2. Conditional Use approval for the new structure shall be considered null and 

void if, for any reason, the dismantle and permanent removal of the structures 

to be removed and construction of the new structure are not substantially 

completed within 12 months of the effective date of this Ordinance Number 

2840; and 

3. Should the new structure cease to exist or operate on the property for a period 

of twelve (12) consecutive months, said use shall be considered null and void 

and said structure shall be immediately removed; and 

4. This Ordinance Number 2840 shall become effective immediately upon 

adoption, approval and publishing/posting pursuant to Alabama law; and 

DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 13th day of May, 

2019. 

 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Ordinance Number 2840 
Page 3 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2840 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 13th day of May, 2019 as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Library in the Forest, Vestavia 
Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of 
______________, 2019. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2840 
Page 4 

 

 



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840

rleavings
Typewritten Text
Amended to 8 structures



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Exhibit A - Ordinance No. 2840



Ordinance Number 2846 
Page 1 of 6 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2846 
 

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING VOTING AND POLLING 
PLACES FOR ALL MUNICIPAL ELECTIONS FOR THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA. 

 
 THIS ORDINANCE NUMBER 2886 IS APPROVED AND ADOPTED ON 

THIS THE 13th DAY OF May, 2019. 

WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS: 

 WHEREAS, Alabama law at Title 11-46-21, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides 

that the regular municipal elections in cities and towns in Alabama shall be held on the 

fourth Tuesday in August 1984, and quadrennially thereafter and, when necessary as 

provided in subsection (d) of Title 11-46-55, a second or runoff election shall be held on 

the first Tuesday of October following said regular election; and 

 WHEREAS, Alabama law at Title 11-46-24, Code of Alabama, 1975, requires the 

municipal governing body designates voting places for municipal elections; and 

 WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama adopted Ordinance Number 152 

on June 3, 1968 to establish voting and polling sites at the following locations:  (1) Vestavia 

Hills City Hall at 513 Montgomery Highway and (2) Vestavia Hills Shopping Center at 

700 Montgomery Highway; and  

WHEREAS, Ordinance Number 1818 adopted on June 5, 2000 established the 

voting and polling sites in the City of Vestavia Hills for municipal elections at the following 

locations:  (1) Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, at 513 Montgomery Highway and (2) 

Vestavia Hills Civic Center, at 1973 Merryvale Road, relocating the second polling site 

because of the closure and renovation of the Vestavia Hills Shopping Center; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama adopted Ordinance Number 1849 

on November 6, 2000 for the addition of a voting and polling site at the Liberty Park Fire 

Station located at 13041 Liberty Parkway in the Liberty Park community of Vestavia Hills; 

and 

WHEREAS, in 2001, the Jefferson County Board of Registrars relocated the 

voting and polling site at the Vestavia Hills Municipal Center to the Vestavia Hills United 

Methodist Church at 2061 Kentucky Avenue at the request of the City of Vestavia Hills 



Ordinance Number 2846 
Page 2 of 6 

 

due to problems in parking facilities.  This location is used for all Federal, County and State 

elections; and 

WHEREAS, in 2002, the Jefferson County Board of Registrars established a 

voting and polling site at the Liberty Park Baptist Church located at 12001 Liberty Parkway 

in the Liberty Park community of Vestavia Hills for use in all Federal, County and State 

elections; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills experienced extensive growth in an easterly 

direction through annexation of many unincorporated portions of Jefferson County 

between Vestavia Hills proper and the Vestavia Hills Liberty Park community; and 

WHEREAS, on the 6th day of October, 2003, the Mayor and City Council adopted 

and approved Ordinance Number 2370 to relocate existing polling and voting sites as well 

as locating additional polling and voting sites within the corporate limits to better serve the 

voting public with more convenient access to polling and voting locations within the City 

and established six (6) voting and polling places for all municipal elections at the following 

locations: (1) the Vestavia Hills United Methodist Church, 2061 Kentucky Avenue; (2) the 

Vestavia Hills Civic Center, 1973 Merryvale Road; (3) the Liberty Park Baptist Church, 

12001 Liberty Parkway; (4) the MountainTop Community Church, 225 Centerview Drive; 

(5) the Town Village Vestavia Hills, 2385 Dolly Ridge Road; and (6) the Cahaba Heights 

Community and Senior Citizens Center, 4401 Dolly Ridge Road.  All of these locations 

were also regular polling and voting sites utilized by the Jefferson County Board of 

Registrars for all Federal, County and State elections and are within corporate limits of 

City of Vestavia Hills; and 

WHEREAS, development occurred within the site of the Vestavia Hills Civic 

Center in which traffic flow became extremely congested with the carpool traffic of two 

schools, activities from the Senior Citizens Community Room as well as the location of 

the Vestavia Hills Chamber of Commerce.  Following repeated complaints from citizens 

on polling days, it was found that traffic flow was virtually impassable at certain times 

which tended to disenfranchise voters at that location; and 

WHEREAS, at the request of the Mayor of the City of Vestavia Hills, the Jefferson 

County Board of Registrars investigated and has determined it is in the best public interest 

to relocate its polling location from the Vestavia Hills Civic Center at 1973 Merryvale 



Ordinance Number 2846 
Page 3 of 6 

 

Road, Vestavia Hills, Alabama to a new polling location at Vestavia Alliance Church at 

1380 Montgomery Highway for all Federal, State and County elections; a change which 

was submitted to the U.S. Department of Justice by letter dated February 8, 2011 from 

Barry Stephenson, Chairman, Jefferson County Board of Registrars and was subsequently 

precleared; and 

 WHEREAS, on July 25, 2011, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills 

adopted and approved Ordinance Number 2370 to relocate the municipal polling location 

from Vestavia Hills Civic Center at 1973 Merryvale Road, Vestavia Hills, Alabama to a 

new polling location at Vestavia Alliance Church at 1380 Montgomery Highway for all 

municipal elections.  This new polling location was subsequently precleared by the U. S. 

Department of Justice by letter dated November 7, 2011; and 

 WHEREAS, on March 13, 2012, primary elections for Federal, State and County 

offices were held and the new polling location at the Vestavia Alliance Church (now named 

Birmingham International Church) at 1380 Montgomery Highway proved to be an 

extremely bad location for polling.  Numerous complaints by voters were received by the 

Jefferson County Registrar as well as Mayor Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr., citing confusing 

parking, dismal lighting within the facilities and inaccessibility onto Montgomery 

Highway. 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama has 

determined that it is in the best public interest to again relocate the third precinct polling 

location from the Vestavia Alliance Church (now called Birmingham International 

Church), 1380 Montgomery Highway, Vestavia Hills, Alabama to a new polling location 

at Horizon Church, 2345 Columbiana Road, Vestavia Hills, Alabama for all municipal 

elections.  The new polling location will allow controlled access to Columbiana Road as 

well as ample space and parking to accommodate all voters at this location; and 

 WHEREAS, on April 9, 2012, the City Council adopted and approved Ordinance 

Number 2396 to move the polling location to Horizon Church, 2345 Columbiana Road; 

and 

 WHEREAS, continued growth and construction at the Vestavia Hills Cahaba 

Heights Elementary School, traffic concerns and reconstruction of the Cahaba Heights 

Sports Complex has warranted a change in the Cahaba Heights Community and Senior 



Ordinance Number 2846 
Page 4 of 6 

 

Citizens Center located at 4401 Dolly Ridge Road voting location.  In February 2019, 

Jefferson County Board of Registrars moved the County polling location to Cahaba 

Heights Baptist Church, 3800 Crosshaven Road, Vestavia Hills, Alabama; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council feel it is in the best interest of the public 

to mirror the County’s actions and move the City’s polling place from the Cahaba Heights 

Community and Senior Citizens Center located at 4401 Dolly Ridge Road to the Cahaba 

Heights Baptist Church, 3800 Crosshaven Road, Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS:  

1. The six (6) voting and polling places for all municipal elections for the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, shall be at the following sites: 

A. Liberty Park Baptist Church:  One voting and polling place for municipal 

elections in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama shall be at the Liberty Park 

Baptist Church in the Liberty Park community located at 12001 Liberty 

Parkway, Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  All qualified electors who regularly 

vote in the Precincts and Box Numbers 48-06 (Brookwood Baptist Church), 

48-07 (Liberty Park Baptist Church), and 48-08 (Overton Road United 

Methodist Church) shall vote at the Liberty Park Baptist Church.   

B. Vestavia Hills United Methodist Church:  One voting and polling place for 

municipal elections in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama shall be at the 

Vestavia Hills United Methodist Church located at 2061 Kentucky Avenue, 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  All qualified electors who regularly vote at the 

Precinct and Box Number 47-08 (Vestavia Hills United Methodist Church) 

shall vote at the Vestavia Hills United Methodist Church. 

C. Horizon Church:  One voting and polling place for municipal elections in 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama shall be at the Horizon Church located 

at 2345 Columbiana Road, Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  All qualified electors 

who regularly vote at Precinct and Box Numbers 47-05 (Horizon Church) 

and 46-06 (Homewood Public Library) shall vote at the Horizon Church. 

D. MountainTop Community Church:  One voting and polling place for 

municipal elections in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama shall be at the 



Ordinance Number 2846 
Page 5 of 6 

 

MountainTop Community Church located at 255 Centerview Drive, 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  All qualified electors who regularly vote at 

Precinct and Box Numbers 47-04 (Saint Mark United Methodist Church) 

and 47-06 (MountainTop Community Church) shall vote at the 

MountainTop Community Church. 

E. Town Village Vestavia Hills:  One voting and polling place for municipal 

elections in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama shall be at the Town Village 

Vestavia Hills located at 2385 Dolly Ridge Road, Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  

All qualified electors who regularly vote at Precinct and Box Numbers 47-

07 (Town Village Vestavia Hills) and 48-02 (Mountain Chapel United 

Methodist Church) or at any Shelby County polling location shall vote at 

the Town Village Vestavia Hills. 

F. Cahaba Heights Baptist Church:  One voting and polling place for 

municipal elections in the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama shall be at the 

Cahaba Heights Baptist Church located at 3800 Crosshaven Drive, Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama.  All qualified electors who regularly vote at Precinct and 

Box Numbers 48-03 (St. Thomas Episcopal Church), 48-04 (Fire Station #2 

Mountain Brook) and 48-05 (Cahaba Heights Baptist Church) shall vote at 

the Cahaba Heights Baptist Church. 

2. Any and all ordinances or resolutions in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby 

repealed. 

3. If any part, section or subdivision of this Ordinance shall be held 

unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, such holding shall not be construed 

to invalidate or impair the remainder of this Ordinance which shall continue in 

full force and effect notwithstanding such holding. 

4. This Ordinance shall become effective upon approval and adoption in its 

publication and/or posting as required by Alabama law. 

 

 

 

 



Ordinance Number 2846 
Page 6 of 6 

 

 DONE, ORDERED, APPROVED and ADOPTED, on this the 13th day of May, 

2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance #2846 is a true and correct 
copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 
Hills on the 13th day of May, 2019 as same appears in the official records of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ 
day of ______________, 2019. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE NUMBER 2848 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND CITY MANAGER 
TO EXECUTE AND DELIVER ALL DOCUMENTS AND ACTIONS 
NECESSARY TO ACQUIRE RIGHTS-OF-WAY AND EASEMENTS FOR 
PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS ALONG CROSSHAVEN DRIVE 
PURSUANT TO THE INFRASTRUCTURE AND COMMUNITY SPACES 
PLAN 

 
 WHEREAS, the area known and referred to as Cahaba Heights was annexed into the City 

of Vestavia Hills by referendum vote in 2002; and 

 WHEREAS, prior to annexation, improvements to Cahaba Heights were drawn and 

proposed by Jefferson County and built into a multi-project grant request; and 

 WHEREAS, in 2017, the City of Vestavia Hills adopted the Infrastructure and Community 

Spaces Plan which, among other projects, proposed improvements to Crosshaven Drive pursuant 

to the Jefferson County plan; and 

 WHEREAS, the City has retained legal counsel to assist with the necessary acquisition of 

various rights-of-way and easements deemed necessary in order to construct said improvements; 

and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have agreed that said acquisition of rights-of-

way and easements pursuant to the plans drawn for the improvements along Crosshaven Drive are 

in the best interest of the general public. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Mayor and City Manager are hereby authorized to execute all documents and take all 

actions necessary in order to acquire the needed rights-of-way and easements needed in 

order to accomplish the proposed improvements along Crosshaven Drive; and 

2. Said funding for these acquisitions shall be derived from the Community Spaces Plan 

funding account; and 

3. This Ordinance Number 2848 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

 

 

 



ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 13th day of May, 2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



RESOLUTION NUMBER 5157 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE 
AND DELIVER AGREEMENTS FOR DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF 
A ROADWAY TO CONNECT BLUE LAKE DRIVE AND TIMBERLAKE 
ROAD PURSUANT TO THE BLUE LAKE AREA STUDY 

 
 WHEREAS, The Vestavia Hills Planning and Zoning Commission adopted the Blue Lake 

Area Study on March 9, 2017 which was an update special plan for Blue Lake Area development 

and to be used as an infrastructure guide for the area of Blue Lake Drive, Pine Tree Drive, 

Timberlake Road and Cahaba River Road; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council agree that it is in the best public interest to 

construct a small roadway to connect Blue Lake Drive with Timberlake Road for enhanced 

commercial development of the area; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has obtained professional proposals for civil engineering, 

property appraisal and geo-technical in order to design a construction plan for said road in an 

amount not to exceed $55,000; and 

WHEREAS, said proposals are marked as Exhibit A and are attached to and incorporated 

into the Resolution Number 5157 as if written fully therein. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute and deliver agreements in order to obtain 

a design for construction of said connector roadway; and 

2. Funding for said project shall be derived from the City’s Gas Tax; and 

3. This Resolution Number 5157 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 13th day of May, 2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
ATTESTED: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



May 3, 2019 
 
Mr. Jeff Downes, City Manager 
City of Vestavia Hills 
1032 Montgomery Hwy. 
Vestavia Hills, AL 35216 
o: (205) 978-0195 

 
Re: Blue Lake Drive/Timber Lake Drive Connector Road – Vestavia Hills, AL 
 Proposal for Civil Engineering Services - Revised  

 
Dear Mr. Downes: 

We appreciate your trust in Caprine Engineering, LLC and look forward to working with you on this project. Caprine 
Engineering will provide professional engineering services for a new connector road between Blue Lake Drive 
and Timber Lake Drive. Although we do not wish to be overly formal in our relationship, it helpful to confirm with 
our clients the nature and terms of our engagement. You and your company are referred to as “Client” below. 

UNDERSTANDING OF PROJECT 

We understand the project to generally consist of the following:  

• The project consists of a new 2-way road with street parking to connect Blue Lake Drive and Timber Lake 
Drive and will also include road widening and improvements along Timber Lake Drive to tie into the 
existing improvements at the north end of the Slice Pizza property. 

• The project is wholly contained within the corporate limits of Vestavia Hills and subject to only their 
review and approval. 

• Initial project surveying for the project will be contracted directly between the City and a surveying 
consultant. 

• As-built surveying of sewer main extensions will be contracted directly with Caprine Engineering 
• The project will be publicly advertised and bid for construction. 
• We will coordinate with the private property owner regarding final roadway layout, parking and driveway 

turnouts, and limits of right-of-way. 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Caprine Engineering will provide the following professional services: 
Civil Engineering 

• Connector road layout and design 
o Plan and profile 
o Street parking 
o Establish right-of-way or easement limits as required 
o Drainage plan 

• Timber Lake Drive roadway widening and improvements 
• Sanitary sewer main extension 

o Plan & profiles 
o Deeds for right-of-way 
o As-built surveying of constructed mains 

• Erosion and sediment controls 
• Construction details 
• Coordination and permitting thru the City of Vestavia Hills 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



• Project meetings with Client – 4x 
• Public bid process coordination 
• Project manual and construction contract coordination with Client 
• Punch out – 1x 
• Water main extension (Separate Fee) 

o Utility plan 
o Administration of extension of mains agreement with BWWB 

CLARIFICATIONS AND EXCLUSIONS 

• Permitting, agency, and advertisement fees are not included in the above fees. 
• The land disturbance impacts to the project area are anticipated to be below the 1.0 ac. threshold for 

qualification for an ADEM construction storm water permit, and it has not been included in the scope of 
work.  Should it be required as design unfolds, additional fees will apply. 

• Work and corresponding time related to construction administration and inspection have not been 
included in this proposal but may be added upon request. 

• The fee provided includes the cost of 7 total sets of construction plans and project manuals for the Client’s 
and the Contractor’s use.  If requested by the Owner or Contractor, additional sets of plans and project 
manuals will be billed at 1.2x actual cost of reprographics to the respective party. 

FEES/ COMPENSATION  

Civil Engineering Lump Sum $40,400 

Water main extension Lump Sum $3,500 

 
TERMS OF ENGAGEMENT 
Services described above shall be provided in accordance with the following terms and conditions: 

• Caprine Engineering will provide all services to the level of care and skill ordinarily used by members of 
our profession under similar circumstances in our area. Caprine Engineering makes no express or implied 
warranties in connection with any services we provide.  

• Client has agreed that Caprine Engineering is not a general contractor, and is not responsible for the 
disposal of asbestos, toxic agents, or other hazardous materials. We, further, are not engaged for the 
purpose of creating a plan for the disposal of asbestos, toxic agents, or other hazardous materials.  

• The rights of each party under this agreement are personal to that party and may not be assigned or 
transferred to any other person, firm, corporation, or other entity without the express, written consent 
of the other party before any attempt to assign or transfer those rights. 

• This agreement may be terminated by either party upon 30 calendar days written notice should the other 
party fail substantially to perform in accordance with its terms through no fault of the party seeking to 
terminate the agreement. In the event of termination of this agreement due to the fault of someone other 
than Caprine Engineering, Caprine Engineering shall be paid for services performed to termination date, 
including reimbursements then due. 

• This agreement shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and any earlier understanding 
or representation of any kind before the date of this agreement is not binding upon either party except 
to the extent incorporated in this agreement. 

• Any modification of this agreement or additional obligation assumed by either party in connection with 
this agreement shall be binding only if placed in writing and signed by each party or an authorized 
representative of each party. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



• Client assumes responsibility for any and all changes made by other people, parties, or contractors to any 
plans we produce after the completion of our work, including changes made during the construction 
phase of any project.  

• The failure of either party to this agreement to insist upon the performance of any of the terms and 
conditions of this agreement, or the waiver of any breach of any of the terms and conditions of this 
agreement, shall not be construed as thereafter waiving any such terms and conditions but the same shall 
continue and remain in full force and effect as if no such forbearance or waiver had occurred.  

• The invalidity of any portion of this agreement will not and shall not affect the validity of any other 
provision. In the event that any provision of this agreement is held to be invalid, the parties agree that the 
remaining provisions shall be deemed to be in full force and effect. 

• Neither party to this agreement shall be liable to the other for any loss, cost, or damages, arising out from 
or resulting from any failure to perform in accordance with the terms of this agreement where the causes 
of such failure shall include, but not be limited to, acts of God; strikes, lockouts, or other industrial 
disturbances; wars, whether declared or undeclared, blockades, insurrections, riots, or governmental 
action; explosions, fire, floods, or any other cause not within the reasonable control of either party. 

• Caprine Engineering shall secure and maintain insurance to protect it from claims made under the 
worker’s compensation acts and claims for bodily injury, death, or property damage that may arise for the 
performance of this agreement. Certificates of such coverage will be provided to Client upon request. 

• Client shall provide Caprine Engineering safe access to the project site necessary for Caprine Engineering 
to provide the services outlined.  

• Caprine Engineering grants to Client a limited license to use documents or plans created for the Client. 
Reuse of any documents or other deliverables pertaining to the project by the Client other than for the 
project for which documents or deliverables were prepared without written verification by Caprine 
Engineering shall be at the Client’s risk, and violates the terms of this agreement.  

• No employee or agent of Caprine Engineering shall have individual liability to the Client, and the Client is 
the only party to whom Caprine Engineering may have any liability at all. Client is responsible for 
indemnification against any other party. Neither Client nor any other party or person may seek 
consequential or special damages against Caprine Engineering.  

• Due to factors outside the control of Caprine Engineering that affect pricing on any given project, Caprine 
Engineering makes no warranty or guarantee that Client’s actual project costs, economic feasibility, or 
schedules will not vary from Caprine Engineering’s opinions, projections, estimates or budgets. 

• The representatives signing this agreement warrant that they have the authority to sign on behalf of the 
Client and Caprine Engineering. 

• Caprine Engineering does not control Client’s safety program and shall not be responsible for the means, 
methods, or procedures used by the Client, Client’s contractor, or others for construction procedures or 
the health and safety of the Client, Caprine Engineering subcontractors, or others incident to this contract.  

• It is agreed that this agreement shall be governed, construed, and enforced in accordance with the laws 
of the State of Alabama. Client agrees that all disputes with Caprine Engineering related to this contract 
for services shall be handled through mediation unless otherwise agreed between both parties. If 
mediation should fail, any suit filed based on this agreement must be filed in the courts of Jefferson 
County, Alabama.  

  

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



Payment Terms 

• This project is undertaken with the express understanding that the invoices for services of Caprine 
Engineering and related expenses should be paid in a timely manner. Services rendered under this 
proposal and contract for services will be invoiced monthly based on work completed. Invoices are due 
upon receipt and will be considered delinquent if not received within 30 calendar days after receipt.  

• Caprine Engineering may, without legal consequences, suspend services until payment is received. Client 
also agrees to pay reasonable attorney’s fees and costs Caprine Engineering may incur in the event an 
action is commenced to collect on unpaid invoices.  

• Invoices outstanding over thirty calendar days shall accrue interest at the rate of 1% per month.  

I would be pleased to answer questions Client may have or to clarify the various points above. If this proposal 
meets with Client’s approval, a returned- signed copy will authorize us to proceed. 

Best regards, 
 
 

 
 

Chris Eckroate, P.E. 
Caprine Engineering, LLC 

 

Acceptance:  

I accept terms and conditions in this letter.  

  

Date:_______________ Client Representative:____________________________________ 

 

 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157









5545 Derby Drive 

Birmingham, AL 35210 

Ph: (205) 836-6300 

www.BuildingAndEarth.com 

 

 

Birmingham, AL  Auburn, AL  Huntsville, AL  Montgomery, AL  Mobile, AL 

Tuscaloosa, AL  Columbus, GA  Louisville, KY  Raleigh, NC  Dunn, NC  

Jacksonville, NC  Springdale, AR  Little Rock, AR  Tulsa, OK  Oklahoma City, OK  Durant, OK 

 

April 24, 2019 

 

 

City of Vestavia Hills 

1032 Montgomery Highway 

Vestavia Hills, AL 35216 

 

Attn: Mr. Jeff Downes 

 

c/o: Chris Eckroate, P.E. (Chris.eckroate@caprineeng.com) 

Caprine Engineering, LLC 

2730 19th Street S. 

Birmingham, AL 35209 

 

Subject: Proposal to Provide Subsurface Exploration and 

Geotechnical Consultation Services 

Blue Lake – Timberlake Connector 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama 

Building & Earth Proposal No. BH21191 

 

 

Dear Mr. Downes: 

 

Building & Earth Sciences, Inc. is pleased to submit this proposal to provide subsurface 

exploration and geotechnical consultation services for the subject project. This proposal 

documents our understanding of the proposed construction, outlines our approach to the 

work, and presents a budget for our services.  

 

PROJECT INFORMATION 

The project consists of the construction of a new connector road and parking area 

between Blue Lake Drive and Timberlake Drive, in Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  Widening of 

Timber Lake Drive may be included in the project as well.   

 

A grading plan was not provided at the time of this proposal, however, based on the 

surrounding topography, we anticipate cuts and fills on the order of 1 to 3 feet will be 

required to reach proposed grades.  

 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157

http://www.buildingandearth.com/
mailto:Chris.eckroate@caprineeng.com


Blue Lake-Timber Lake Connector, Vestavia Hills, AL 

Proposal No. BH21191, April24, 2019 

 

 

Page ǀ 2 

 

A schematic design is shown below.   

 

 
Schematic Design – Prepared by Tent Shop Design 

 

GEOTECHNICAL SCOPE OF SERVICES  

The purpose of the geotechnical exploration will be to determine general subsurface 

conditions and to gather data on which to base a geotechnical evaluation with respect to 

the proposed construction. The work will include soil test borings, laboratory analysis, and 

geotechnical evaluation appropriate to address the geotechnical aspects of the proposed 

construction.   

Field Exploration 

▪ A geotechnical site reconnaissance and subsurface exploration will be performed 

consisting of six (6) soil test borings within the proposed connector alignment and 

along Timber Lake Drive.  The borings will be located in accessible areas of the site.  

The borings will be advanced to a depth of 10 feet below the surface or auger 

refusal, whichever occurs first. No rock coring is included in this proposal.  

Laboratory Analysis 

▪ Two (2) Atterberg Limits determination or #200 wash sieve tests, as appropriate. 

▪ Ten (10) natural soil moisture content tests. 

  

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



Blue Lake-Timber Lake Connector, Vestavia Hills, AL 

Proposal No. BH21191, April24, 2019 

 

 

Page ǀ 3 

 

Report 

The results of the subsurface exploration will be documented in a report that will address 

the following items: 

• Site geology and its impact on site development. 

• Summary of existing surface conditions. 

• A description of the subsurface and groundwater conditions encountered at the 

soil test boring locations. (Long-term water level monitoring is not included in this 

proposal.) 

• Presentation of laboratory test results. 

• Site preparation considerations including material types to be expected at the site 

and treatment of unsuitable soils, if encountered. 

• Compaction requirements and recommended criteria to establish suitable material 

for structural backfill. 

• Recommendations for suitable pavement sections, based on assumed traffic 

loading.     

BUDGET 

The cost of our services will be based on the amount of work necessary to evaluate the 

geotechnical conditions for construction purposes. Based on the scope of work described 

in this proposal, the budget for the subsurface exploration and geotechnical evaluation is 

$4,100.00.  

If conditions are encountered that require additional analysis, then we will discuss a 

modified work scope with your office. We will not exceed the indicated budget without 

your prior authorization.   

After issuance of the geotechnical report, any additional revisions, client meetings, and/or 

consultations will be billed at a rate of $125 per hour.   

UTILITIES / SITE ACCESS 

Based on a recent site visit, the majority of the site appears to be accessible to our track-

mounted drill rig, without requiring access preparation. We request right of entry be 

arranged for all properties along the proposed alignment prior to our mobilization.   

No re-grading or re-vegetation of the site following the completion of our field 

exploration is included in our scope of work. The borings will be backfilled with auger 

cuttings upon completion of drilling.  Borings located in Timberlake Drive will be patched 

with cold mix asphalt.  

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



Blue Lake-Timber Lake Connector, Vestavia Hills, AL 

Proposal No. BH21191, April24, 2019 

 

 

Page ǀ 4 

 

We will contact the Alabama One-Call Center to locate underground utilities at the site. 

We request the current owner provide us with any available information regarding 

underground utilities. Building & Earth will not be held liable for damage to unmarked 

utility lines or lines marked erroneously by others. 

AUTHORIZATION AND SCHEDULE 

We have attached a copy of a Standard Proposal Acceptance Form, which, when signed 

and returned to Building and Earth, will serve as our authorization to proceed with the 

proposed scope of work. Changes to the work scope by virtue of design changes or 

unusual subsurface conditions should be authorized in writing. We anticipate that the 

field exploration could be started within 5 business days after receiving written 

authorization to proceed. The written report will be available within 10 business days 

following the field exploration.   

We will discuss the site conditions with you during the course of the work and can provide 

preliminary recommendations as the work proceeds. Weather may extend the time 

required for the field exploration (and overall schedule) if rainy days occur prior to or after 

commencement of the exploration. 

CLOSING 

We appreciate the opportunity to submit this proposal for subsurface exploration and 

geotechnical engineering services for the proposed construction, and look forward to 

working with you on this project. If you have any questions regarding this proposal, please 

contact the undersigned. 

 

Respectfully submitted,  

BUILDING & EARTH SCIENCES, INC. 

 

 

 

 

Joey Jones, P.E.  Richard D. Brown, P.E. 

Geotechnical Department Manager Assistant Branch Manager 

 

 

Attachment: 

Boring Location Plan 

Authorization Sheet and Terms & Conditions 

 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



 

 

 

 

Reference used to create this drawing: PROPOSED BORING LOCATION PLAN  

Survey Scope, dated 4/15/2019 

PROPOSAL NO. PROJECT NAME / LOCATION 

BH21191 
Blue Lake-Timberlake Connector 

Vestavia, AL 

APPROX SCALE: DATE: 

NTS 4/24/19 

 

Proposed Boring Location 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



 

Revised 01-09-2017 1  

 

INFORMATION SHEET 

 

PROJECT NAME/LOCATION: Blue Lake – Timberlake Connector (GEO) Vestavia, AL 

PROPOSAL/PROJECT NO. BH21191 DATE: 4/24/19 

CLIENT: City of Vestavia Hills 

 

FOR PAYMENT OF CHARGES: 

Charge invoice to the account of: 

Firm:  

Address:  

Phone:  Fax:  Email:  

Attention:  Title:  

 

FOR APPROVAL OF CHARGES: 

If the invoice is to be mailed to someone other than the account charges, please indicate where 

to mail the invoice in the space below: 

Firm:  

Address:  

Phone:  Fax:  Email:  

Attention:  Title:  

 

REPORT DISTRIBUTION: 

Firm:  Firm:  

Address:  Address:  

 

 
 

 

Attention:  Attention:  

Email:  Email:  

 

SERVICES:  See Consultant’s Proposal         

 

PAYMENT:  See Consultant’s Proposal         

 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



Revised 01-09-2017 2  

 

PROJECT NAME/LOCATION: Blue Lake – Timberlake Connector (GEO) Vestavia, AL 

PROPOSAL/PROJECT NO. BH21191 DATE: 4/24/19 

CLIENT: City of Vestavia Hills 

 

 

ACCEPTANCE OF CONTRACT: 

The Contract consists of the Information Sheet, the Consultant’s Proposal, and the 

attached General Terms and Conditions (the “Contract”), including all additions, 

deletions, and modifications as agreed upon in writing by Consultant.  The Contract sets 

forth the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the services and 

supersedes all inquiries, proposals, agreements, negotiations and commitments, 

whether written or oral, prior to the execution of the Contract.  The provisions of the 

Contract may be changed only by a writing executed by Consultant and Client.   

THIS CONTRACT is entered into as of the ______ day of ___________________, 20___. 

 

CLIENT: 

      

 [Company Name] 

 

Sign:      

Print:      

Its:      

Address:     

      

 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



 

Revised 01-09-2017 3  

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

SECTION 1:  STANDARD OF CARE 

1.1 The standard of care for all services performed or furnished by Building & Earth Sciences, Inc. ("Consultant") 

under this Contract will be that level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of Consultant's 

profession practicing under similar conditions at the same time and in the same geographical region.  

Consultant makes no warranties, express or implied, under this Contract or otherwise, in connection with the 

Consultant's services. 

SECTION 2: CONSULTANT’S SERVICES 

2.1 Services.  Consultant shall perform the services described in Consultant’s Proposal in accordance with this 

Contract, which may include construction materials testing services or subsurface exploration and 

geotechnical consultation services. 

2.2 Subsurface Exploration and Geotechnical Consultation Services.  If Consultant’s Proposal includes services 

for subsurface exploration and geotechnical consultation, then this Section 2.2 shall apply: 

(a)  Subsurface Risks.  Client recognizes that special risks occur whenever engineering or related disciplines 

are applied to identify subsurface conditions.  Site exploration may fail to detect unknown or undocumented 

conditions such as sinkholes, underground mines, caverns, hazardous materials, etc.  Subsurface sampling 

may also result in unavoidable contamination of certain subsurface areas, or bodies of water if unknown 

contaminated zones exist at the site.  The passage of time also must be considered, and Client recognizes 

that, due to natural occurrence or other direct or indirect human intervention at the site or distance from it, 

actual conditions may quickly change.  Client understands that elimination of these risks is not possible and 

therefore waives any claim against Consultant, for injury or loss or property liability that may arise form such 

subsurface conditions.  

 (b) Site Clearing/Erosion Control.  When clearing of vegetation or benching into the earth is required to 

provide access for exploration equipment, rough-cleared access roads and some felled trees may result.  

Consultant shall not be responsible for restoring the site to its original condition, and Consultant shall not 

conduct any regrading, revegetation or erosion control.  

 (c) Utilities/Existing Man Made Objects.  Prior to Consultant commencing the services, Client shall disclose 

the presence and accurate location of any utilities and any hidden or obscure man-made objects to 

Consultant in writing.  Consultant shall not be responsible for any damages to subterranean structures or 

objects that were not specifically identified to Consultant in writing prior to Consultant commencing the 

services and/or which were not correctly shown on the plans furnished to Consultant.  The Client agrees to 

waive any and all claims against the Consultant Group and to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the 

Consultant Group from and against all claims, costs, losses, liabilities, damages, and expenses (including, but 

not limited to, all attorneys’ fees and dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to damage to 

subsurface conditions or structures, whether owned by Client or third parties. 

 (d) Samples.  Consultant will retain all soil and rock samples for thirty (30) days.  Further storage or transfer 

can be made at the Client's expense upon written request.  

 (e) Construction Estimates/Bid Documents/Plans and Specifications.   

  (1) Any reports prepared by Consultant in connection this Contract are for general geotechnical 

design purposes only, and Client shall not rely on these reports to prepare accurate bids or estimates for 

excavation and rock quantities, dewatering, removal of unsuitable materials or excavation support.  An 

entirely different work scope will be required for quantity estimation purposes. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



Revised 01-09-2017 4  

  (2) Client agrees to retain Consultant to review the plans and specifications and work with other 

design professionals who are affected by any report furnished by Consultant in connection with this 

Contract.  The review of plans and specifications is to assure that the geotechnical issues have been dealt 

with properly and that geotechnical findings and recommendations are properly interpreted and 

incorporated in design.  

  (3) Misinterpretation or improper use of Consultant's reports by contractors or others in preparing 

cost and quantity estimates or bid documents is a major cause of construction claims.  Client agrees to 

defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Consultant Group from and against all claims, costs, losses, 

liabilities, damages, and expenses (including, but not limited to, all attorneys’ fees and dispute resolution 

costs) arising out of or relating to cost or quantity estimates or bid documents prepared by others without 

Consultant's written approval. 

2.3 Time.  Unless specific periods of time or specific dates are specified in this Contract, Consultant’s obligation 

to render services hereunder will be for a period which may reasonably be required for the completion of 

said services.  If in this Contract specific periods of time for rendering services are set forth or specific dates 

by which services are to be completed are provided and if such periods of time or dates are changed 

through no fault of Consultant, the rates and amounts of compensation provided for herein shall be subject 

to equitable adjustment.   

2.4 Changes.  If Client requests changes in the scope of Consultant’s services, the time of performance of 

Consultant’s services shall be adjusted equitably and the rates and amounts of compensation provided for 

herein shall also be subject to equitable adjustment. 

SECTION 3: OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 

3.1 All reports, boring logs, field notes, laboratory test data, calculations, estimates, proprietary information and 

other documents or information ("Instruments of Service") prepared, developed, or acquired by Consultant 

shall be the property of Consultant, and Consultant shall retain an ownership and property interest therein. 

3.2 Client agrees that all Instruments of Service or other work furnished to the Client or its agents, which are not 

paid for in accordance with the Contract, shall be returned to Consultant upon demand and shall not be 

used by the Client for any purpose whatever. 

3.3 Consultant hereby grants to Client a nonexclusive license to use the Instruments of Service furnished by 

Consultant only for the purpose of the operation and maintenance of the Project for which the Instruments 

of Service were provided.  Client may make and retain copies of the Instruments of Service only for use on 

the Project by Client.  The Instruments of Service are not suitable for reuse by Client or others on extensions, 

modifications, or expansions of the Project or any other project.  Any such reuse or modification without 

written verification or adaptation by Consultant, as appropriate for the specific purpose intended, shall be at 

Client's sole risk and without liability or legal exposure to Consultant, or to Consultant's officers, directors, 

partners, employees, agents, or representatives (the "Consultant Group"). 

3.4 Client agrees to waive any and all claims against the Consultant Group and to defend, indemnify and hold 

harmless the Consultant Group from and against any and all claims, costs, losses, liabilities, damages, and 

expenses (including, but not limited to, all attorneys’ fees and dispute resolution costs) arising out of or 

relating to Client's use of the Instruments of Service in violation of the Contract. 

SECTION 4: PAYMENT TERMS 

4.1 Client shall pay Consultant for the services performed or furnished on the basis set forth on the Information 

Sheet. 

4.2 Invoices will be submitted monthly to Client and upon Consultant’s completion of services.  Invoices are due 

and payable within thirty (30) days of receipt.  If Client fails to make any payment due Consultant for services 

or expenses within thirty (30) days after receipt of Consultant's invoice, the amounts due Consultant will be 

increased at the rate of 1.5% per month (or the maximum rate of interested permitted by law, if less) from 

said thirtieth day.  In addition, Consultant may, after giving seven (7) days written notice to Client, suspend 

the services until Consultant has been paid in full all amounts due.  Payments will be credited first to interest 

and then to principal. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



Revised 01-09-2017 5  

4.3 In the event of a disputed or contested invoice, only that portion so contested may be withheld from 

payment, and Client shall pay to Consultant the undisputed portion. 

4.4 Client agrees to pay all collection costs and expenses, including attorneys' fees, incurred by Consultant in 

collecting or attempting to collect any past due account. 

SECTION 5: INSURANCE & LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 

5.1 Consultant shall procure and maintain the following insurance coverage: 

 (a) Worker's Compensation Insurance     statutory limit 

 (b) Employer's Liability      $1,000,000 

 (c) Comprehensive General Liability Insurance 

   General Aggregate      $2,000,000 

   Bodily injury & property damage   $1,000,000 per occurrence 

 (d) Automobile Liability Insurance    $1,000,000 per occurrence 

 

5.2 Limitation of Professional Liability.  Notwithstanding anything in the Contract to the contrary, and to the 

fullest extent permitted by law, Client agrees that the total liability of the Consultant Group to Client and 

anyone claiming by, through, or under Client for any cost, loss, or damages caused by the acts or omissions 

of Consultant shall not exceed $100,000.00 or Consultant's total fee for the services, whichever is less. 

5.3 Waiver of Consequential Damages.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, neither Consultant nor 

Client shall be liable to the other for any consequential, special, or indirect losses or damages, whether 

arising in contract, warranty, tort, strict liability or otherwise, including but not limited to losses of use, 

profits, business, reputation or financing. 

SECTION 6: RIGHT OF ENTRY 

6.1 Client and/or property owner shall provide access to and make all provisions for right of entry to Consultant 

and all equipment necessary for Consultant to perform the services.  It is understood by Client that in the 

normal course of services some damage may occur, the correction of which is not part of this Contract.  

Client shall not be responsible whatsoever for any such damage or for the correction of any damage. 

SECTION 7:  SAMPLING OR TEST LOCATION 

7.1 Unless otherwise specified in writing, the Consultant’s fees set forth on the Information Sheet do not include 

costs associated with surveying the site for the accurate horizontal and vertical locations of boreholes, test 

pits or other field tests performed.  Client shall be responsible for such additional costs.  Field tests or boring 

locations described in Consultant's report or shown on sketches are based on information furnished by 

others or estimates made in the field by Consultant's representatives.  Client acknowledges and agrees that 

such dimensions, depths, or elevations are approximations only. Client shall not rely upon such information, 

and Consultant makes no warranties, express or implied, as to this information. 

SECTION 8:  MONITORING OF FIELD ACTIVITIES 

8.1 The presence of Consultant's field personnel, either full-time or part-time, at the Project will be for the 

purpose only of providing periodic observation and field testing of specific aspects of the Project as 

authorized by the Client.  Client acknowledges and agrees that Consultant will not be responsible for the 

supervision or direction of the contractor's work, or the work of contractor's employees, agents, or 

subcontractors. The presence or absence of Consultant's field representatives, or Consultant's observation or 

testing, shall not relieve the contractor of its responsibilities to perform its work in accordance with the plans 

and specifications.  Consultant shall not have any control over, charge of, or responsibility for the 

construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety precautions and programs 

in connection with the contractor's work or of any other persons or entities performing portions of the work 

at the Project. 

8.2 The observations and tests performed by Consultant’s field representative are valid only for the time and 

location the test is performed.  The Client acknowledges that outside factors such as construction activity, 

weather and the passage of time can alter condition of the material tested or observed. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



Revised 01-09-2017 6  

8.3 Client agrees that the contractor will be solely and completely responsible for working conditions at the 

Project, including safety of all persons and property during performance of its work, and compliance with 

OSHA regulations, and that these requirements will apply continuously and not be limited to normal working 

hours.  Client acknowledges and agrees that Consultant will not be responsible for job or site safety on the 

Project, and that Consultant does not have the duty or right to stop the work of the contractor.  

8.4 Client waives any and all claims against the Consultant Group and agrees to indemnify, defend and hold 

harmless the Consultant Group from and against all claims, costs, losses, liabilities, damages, and expenses 

(including, but not limited to, all attorneys’ fees and dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to 

contractor's failure to perform its work in accordance with plans and specifications or contractor’s failure to 

comply with the applicable safety requirements and regulations. 

SECTION 9:  HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES 

9.1 Client agrees to comply with all applicable laws related to Hazardous Substances.  Consultant shall not be 

responsible in any way for any Hazardous Substances uncovered, revealed, or discovered at the Project site. 

9.2 The term "Hazardous Substance" means any substance or material: (i) the presence of which requires 

management, reporting, investigation or remediation under any federal, state or local law, statute, rule, regulation, 

ordinance, order, action, policy or common law; (ii) which is or becomes regulated by any federal, state or local 

governmental authority, including without limitation, any substance or waste material which is defined or listed as 

a "hazardous waste," "acutely hazardous waste," "extremely hazardous substance," "restricted hazardous waste," 

"industrial waste," "hazardous substance," "hazardous material," "pollutant" "hazardous air pollutant, "criteria 

pollutant," "volatile organic compound," "priority pollutant," "special waste," "SARA 313 chemical" or "contaminant" 

under any law; (iii) which contains gasoline, diesel fuel or other petroleum hydrocarbons or a petroleum derivative; 

(iv) which contains polychlorinated biphenyls ("PCBs"), asbestos or urea formaldehyde; or (v) which poses an 

unreasonable risk of injury to human health or the environment. 

9.3 If any Hazardous Substance is discovered at the Project site, the Client shall be solely responsible for all costs 

and expenses associated with the discovery of such Hazardous Substance.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, 

the Client shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Consultant Group from and against any and all claims, 

costs, losses, liabilities, damages, and expenses (including, but not limited to, all attorneys’ fees and dispute 

resolution costs) arising out of or related to Consultant’s performance of the services in an area where a Hazardous 

Substance is discovered. 

SECTION 10:  DISPUTES 

10.1 In the event of a dispute arising out of or relating to this Contract or the services to be rendered hereunder, 

Client and Consultant agree to attempt to resolve such disputes in the following manner: 

 (a) Amicable Resolution. The parties agree to first attempt to resolve such disputes amicably through 

direct negotiations between the appropriate representatives of each party. 

 (b) Mediation.  If such negotiations are not fully successful, the parties agree to attempt to resolve any 

remaining disputes by mediation conduced in accordance with the Construction Industry Mediation Rules of 

the American Arbitration Association currently in effect. The parties shall share the mediator's fee and any 

filing fees equally.  The mediation shall be held in Birmingham, Alabama. Agreements reached in mediation 

shall be enforceable as settlement agreements in any court having jurisdiction thereof. 

 (c) Arbitration.  The parties acknowledge and agree that the Contract and the subject matter hereof are 

substantially connected with and involved with interstate commerce.  Any controversy, dispute or claim 

arising out of or related to the Contract, or the breach thereof, not otherwise resolved in accordance with 

this Section shall be settled by arbitration in accordance with the Construction Industry Arbitration Rules of 

the American Arbitration Association.  The arbitration hearing shall be held in Birmingham, Alabama.  The 

provisions of this section to arbitrate and any judgment rendered upon the award by the arbitrator or 

arbitrators may be enforced in any court having jurisdiction thereof. The prevailing party shall be entitled to 

have its reasonable attorneys' fees and related costs and expenses paid by the non-prevailing party. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



Revised 01-09-2017 7  

SECTION 11:  THIRD PARTY CLAIMS 

11.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, Client agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Consultant 

Group from and against any and all third party claims whatsoever (including, but not limited to, all attorneys’ 

fees and dispute resolution costs) arising from any act, error, or omission of Client relating to the Project.  To 

the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Client 

from and against any and all third party claims whatsoever (including, but not limited to, all attorneys’ fees 

and dispute resolution costs) arising from any act, error, or omission of Consultant relating to the Project.   

SECTION 12:  TERMINATION 

12.1 This Contract may be terminated by either party upon seven (7) days written notice in the event of 

substantial failure by the other party to perform in accordance with this Contract, and provided that the 

defaulting party has not cured such failure within five (5) days after receiving such written notice. In the 

event of termination, Consultant shall be paid for services performed to the termination date plus 

reasonable termination expenses.  

12.2 In the event Client terminates or suspends Consultant's services for three (3) months or more prior to 

Consultant's completion of all reports contemplated by this Contract, Consultant may complete such 

analyses and records as are necessary to complete its files and may also complete a report on the services 

performed to the date of termination or suspension.  Client shall be responsible for the expenses of such 

termination or suspension, which shall include, without limitation, all costs of Consultant to complete such 

analyses, reports or records.  

12.3 Consultant may terminate the Contract by written notice to Client if Client fails to pay Consultant's 

undisputed invoices in the manner required by this Contract, if such failure continues for a period of ten (10) 

days after written notice is given to Client.   

SECTION 13:  ASSIGNS 

13.1 Neither the Client nor Consultant may delegate, assign, sublet or transfer any obligation or interest in this 

Contract without the written consent of the other party. 

SECTION 14:  CERTIFICATIONS, GUARANTEES AND WARRANTIES 

14.1 Consultant shall not be required to sign any documents, no matter by whom requested, that would result in 

Consultant having to certify, guarantee or warrant the existence of conditions whose existence Consultant 

cannot ascertain. Client shall not make resolution of any dispute with Consultant or payment of any amount 

due to Consultant in any way contingent upon signing any such certification, guarantee, or warranty.  

SECTION 15: MISCELLANEOUS 

15.1 Governing Law. This Contract shall be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is located. 

15.2 Notices. Any notice required under this Contract shall be in writing, addressed to the appropriate party at 

its address on the signature page and given personally, by certified mail (return receipt requested), or by Federal 

Express, UPS, or other nationally recognized overnight carrier.  All notices shall be effective upon the date of 

receipt. 

15.3 Waiver. Non-enforcement of any provision by either party shall not constitute a waiver of that provision 

nor shall it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Contract. 

15.4 Headings.   This Contract may be executed in one or more counterparts and by the parties hereto on 

separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be an original, but all the counterparts 

shall together constitute one and the same instrument.  All signatures need not appear on the same counterpart. 

15.5 Severability.  The determination of the invalidity of all or any provision in this Contract shall not render the 

remaining provisions void or unenforceable, and this Contract shall thereafter be construed as though such invalid 

provision were not a part hereof. 

15.6 Expiration.  This proposal is good for a period of 90 days from the date of the proposal.  After 90 days, 

Consultant will consider extending the offer if requested to do so by Client. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157

















 

Valbridge – Alabama 

200 Cahaba Park Circle, Ste 213 
Birmingham, AL 35242 

Phone: (205) 783-5104 
www.Valbridge.com 

 
 

 

 

April 26, 2019 

 

John E. Hall, III MAI 

    334-277-5077  

         jhall@valbridge.com 

Jeff Downes 

City Manager 

City of Vestavia Hills1032 Montgomery Hwy  

Vestavia Hills, AL 35216 

 

RE: Narrative Summary Appraisals  

 3 Tracts on Blue Lake Neighborhood Project  

 Vestavia Hills, AL 35243 

 

Dear Mr. Downes, 

 

Valbridge Property Advisors | Alabama-Florida Panhandle (“Appraiser”) is pleased to present the 

following requested proposal to perform Appraisal Services regarding the above referenced 

property(ies) for City of Vestavia Hills (“Client”). If this document is executed by both parties, it will 

form the engagement contract for our services (“Agreement”). The following provisions will apply to 

our services: 

 

Subject Property City of Vestavia Hills Blue Lake Neighborhood  

Project # 18-0249 30 tracts 

Intended Use Market value for acquisition and possible temporary easements. 

Alternate uses are neither intended nor authorized. 

Intended User(s) City of Vestavia Hills 

Date of Value Date of inspection 

Scope of Assignment The scope of our engagement will include the applicable research and 

analysis required to provide the market value of the property and any 

effects of the acquisitions. 

Assignment Conditions None 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157

https://vhal.org/contact/maps.google.com/?q=1032%20Montgomery%20Hwy%20Vestavia%20Hills,%20AL%2035216
https://vhal.org/contact/maps.google.com/?q=1032%20Montgomery%20Hwy%20Vestavia%20Hills,%20AL%2035216


 Vestavia Hills 

Blue Lake Neighborhood Project 

Page 2 

© 2019 VALBRIDGE PROPERTY ADVISORS | ALABAMA-FLORIDA PANHANDLE 

Presentation of Findings Narrative Appraisal Report 

Electronic copy in PDF format. Hard copies upon request for an 

additional charge. 

Professional Fee The professional fee for this assignment will not exceed $7,500 for 

complete appraisals. $2,500 per tract. 

Retainer $0 

Fee for services due upon delivery of work product. 

Responsibility for Fees If the assignment is terminated prior to completion and delivery of the 

report, billing will reflect expenses to date and work to date. Billing of 

a cancelled assignment will follow the standard payment policy 

described in the included Terms and Conditions. 

Additional Services In the event that additional services are needed, such as, but not 

limited to additional reports, further analysis, formal presentations, 

court testimony or any other services, a fee of $250 per hour will be 

charged. 

Delivery TBD Est. June 30-2019 (final electronic report) 

 

Appraiser will use Appraiser’s best efforts to deliver the appraisal 

report by the above date.  Appraiser’s delivery of the report is 

contingent on receipt of an executed copy of this engagement 

contract, receipt of the retainer, if required, within 7 business days of 

provision of the proposal to Client and receipt of the requested 

information and documentation from Client within 10 business days 

of provision of the proposal to Client.   

Requested Information Property owner contact information and most up to date revised 

maps. Current is January 16, 2019. 

Professional Standards 

Governing Assignment 

The analyses, opinions, and conclusions will be developed and 

presented in conformance with (and the use of this report is subject 

to) the requirements of: (1) the Uniform Standards of Professional 

Appraisal Practice, and (2) the Code of Professional Ethics and 

Standards of Professional Practice of the Appraisal Institute. 

Disclosure of Prior 

Services Regarding 

Subject Property 

The appraiser(s) who will perform the appraisal has not performed any 

prior services regarding the Subject Property within the three-year 

period immediately preceding the date of this Agreement, as an 

appraiser or in any other capacity.   

 

 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



 Vestavia Hills 

Blue Lake Neighborhood Project 

Page 3 

© 2019 VALBRIDGE PROPERTY ADVISORS | ALABAMA-FLORIDA PANHANDLE 

Attached to and incorporated in this engagement letter are Valbridge Property Advisors |Alabama-

Florida Panhandle’s Terms and Conditions of Agreement. These Terms and Conditions form a material 

part of this Agreement and are no less important than any other part. The appraisal(s) performed under 

this Agreement also will be subject to all assumptions and limiting conditions and other conditions 

(collectively, “Appraisal Conditions”) set forth in the appraisal report(s). Client’s use of the appraisal will 

constitute acceptance of the Appraisal Conditions stated in a report. The Appraisal Conditions shall be 

considered as being incorporated into and forming part of this Agreement with respect to the appraisal 

in which they are contained and to the services relating to that appraisal. 

 

Thank you for considering our firm for this assignment. If these terms are acceptable to you, please 

indicate below by your signature, or the signature of an authorized alternate. Please retain a copy for 

your records and return a signed copy to us, along with the retainer. We look forward to working with 

you on this assignment. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Valbridge Property Advisors |  Alabama-Florida Panhandle 

 

 
John E. Hall, III, MAI 

Certified General Real Property Appraiser 

Senior Managing Director 

Alabama License Number G00495 

Alabama License Expires September 30, 2019 

jhall@valbridge.com 

 

AGREED AND ACCEPTED 

 

 

 

 

Signature Title 

 

 

 

 

Name (print) Date 

 

 

  

  

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157

mailto:jhall@valbridge.com


 Vestavia Hills 

Blue Lake Neighborhood Project 

Page 4 

© 2019 VALBRIDGE PROPERTY ADVISORS | ALABAMA-FLORIDA PANHANDLE 

1. “Appraiser” means Valbridge Property Advisors | Alabama-Florida Panhandle and its appraisers, employees, 

partners, owners, shareholders, members, officers, directors and independent contractors. 

2. Acceptance of this Agreement assumes that Client will provide all necessary information needed for the appraisal 

on a timely and truthful basis.  

3. It is Client’s responsibility to read the report and to inform Appraiser of any errors or omissions, prior to utilizing 

the report or making it available to any third party. 

4. The fee quoted is based on Appraiser’s understanding of the assignment as outlined in the scope of work. Changes 

in scope will be billed at Appraiser’s normal hourly rates. The fee and estimated completion time are subject to 

change if the property is not as outlined in our proposal, or if issues come to light during the course of Appraiser’s 

investigation which, in Appraiser’s opinion, necessitates such change.  If Client places an assignment “on hold,” 

then reactivates the appraisal, an additional charge may apply due to the inefficiency created.  If Appraiser is 

requested or required to provide testimony as a result of this appraisal, testimony and preparation time will be 

charged at our normal hourly rates.  

5. The Valbridge Property Advisors office responsible for the preparation of this report is independently owned and 

operated by Alabama-Florida Panhandle.  Neither Valbridge Property Advisors, Inc., nor any of its affiliates, has 

been engaged to provide this report.  Valbridge Property Advisors, Inc., does not provide valuation services, and 

has taken no part in the preparation of this report.  

6. If any legal action or claim is filed against any of Valbridge Property Advisors, Inc., a Florida Corporation, its affiliates, 

officers or employees, or Appraiser, in connection with, or in any way arising out of, or relating to, the appraisal(s) 

or this Agreement, then (1) under no circumstances shall such claimant be entitled to consequential, special or 

other damages, except only for direct compensatory damages and (2) the maximum amount of such compensatory 

damages recoverable by such claimant shall be the amount actually received by Appraiser from Client. 

7. Unless the time period is shorter under applicable law, any legal action or claim in connection with, or in any way 

arising out of, or relating to, the appraisal(s) or this Agreement shall be filed in court (or in the applicable arbitration 

tribunal) within two (2) years from the date of delivery to Client of the appraisal to which the claims or causes of 

action relate or, in the case of acts or conduct after delivery of the report, two (2) years from the date of the alleged 

acts or conduct. The time period stated in this section shall not be extended by any delay in the discovery or accrual 

of the underlying claims, causes of action or damages. The time period stated in this section shall apply to all non-

criminal claims or causes of action of any type.  

8. Legal claims or causes of action in connection with, or in any way arising out of, or relating to, the appraisal(s) or 

this Agreement are not assignable, except: (i) as the result of a bona fide merger, consolidation, sale or purchase 

of a legal entity, (ii) with regard to the collection of a bona fide existing debt for services but then only to the extent 

of the total compensation for the appraisal plus reasonable interest, or (iii) in the case of an appraisal performed 

in connection with the origination of a mortgage loan, as part of the transfer or sale of the mortgage before an 

event of default on the mortgage or note or its legal equivalent. 

9. Appraisal reports and associated work files may be subject to evaluation by Valbridge Property Advisors, Inc., or its 

affiliates, for quality control purposes.  If Client is unwilling to waive confidentiality for this purpose, client must 

inform Alabama-Florida Panhandle upon acceptance of this assignment.  

10. This appraisal shall be used only for the function outlined in the attached letter, unless expressly authorized by 

Valbridge Property Advisors |Alabama-Florida Panhandle.  The format and value reported may or may not be valid 

for other purposes. 

11. Unless otherwise noted, the appraisal will value the property as though free of contamination. Valbridge Property 

Advisors | Alabama-Florida Panhandle will conduct no hazardous materials or contamination inspection of any 

kind. It is recommended that the client secure appropriate inspections from qualified experts if the presence of 

hazardous materials or contamination poses any concern.  

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157



 Vestavia Hills 

Blue Lake Neighborhood Project 

Page 5 

© 2019 VALBRIDGE PROPERTY ADVISORS | ALABAMA-FLORIDA PANHANDLE 

12. Our standard payment policy is as follows:  the balance is due upon presentation of the invoice; if payment is not 

made within 30 days of date due, interest at the rate of 1.5% per month will be added to the principal from the 

due date to date payment is received, and you shall pay all expenses of collection, including court costs and 

attorney fees. If the client requests a draft, the fee is due upon delivery of the draft.  shall be under no obligation 

to continue work on an assignment that is not paid current.   

13. The fee for this appraisal is not contingent upon the valuation of the property, the funding of any loan or outcome 

of litigation. Any opinions Appraiser may have expressed about the outcome of your matter or case are expressions 

of Appraiser’s opinions only and do not constitute any guarantee about the outcome.  Should the assignment be 

terminated prior to completion, you agree to pay for time and costs incurred prior to Appraiser’s receipt of written 

notice of cancellation. 

14. If this assignment includes a provision for work performed on an hourly billing basis, such work is subject to periodic 

adjustment to Appraiser’s then-current rates. Valbridge Property Advisors | Alabama-Florida Panhandle shall 

provide 30 days’ notice to client prior to any rate increase. If client chooses not to consent to the increased rates, 

client may terminate Valbridge Property Advisors |Alabama-Florida Panhandle’s services by written notice effective 

when received by Valbridge Property Advisors |Alabama-Florida Panhandle.  

15. If this assignment includes a provision for work on an hourly billing basis, client acknowledges that Valbridge 

Property Advisors | Alabama-Florida Panhandle has made no promises about the total amount of fees to be 

incurred by client under this agreement.  

16. Client and Valbridge Property Advisors | Alabama-Florida Panhandle both agree that any dispute over matters in 

excess of $5,000 will be submitted for resolution by arbitration. This includes fee disputes and any claim of 

malpractice. The arbitrator shall be mutually selected.  If Valbridge Property Advisors | Alabama-Florida Panhandle 

and the client cannot agree on the arbitrator, the presiding civil administrative judge the presiding head of the 

Local County Mediation & Arbitration panel shall select the arbitrator. Such arbitration shall be binding and final.  

In agreeing to arbitration, the Client and Appraiser both acknowledge that, by agreeing to binding arbitration, each 

is giving up the right to have the dispute decided in a court of law before a judge or jury.  In the event that the 

client, or any other party entitled to do so, makes a claim against Alabama-Florida Panhandle or any of its 

employees in connection with or in any way relating to this assignment, the maximum damages recoverable from 

Valbridge Property Advisors | Alabama-Florida Panhandle or its employees shall be the amount of monies actually 

collected by Valbridge Property Advisors | Alabama-Florida Panhandle for this assignment and under no 

circumstances shall any claim for consequential damages be made. 

17. Appraiser shall have no obligation, liability, or accountability to any third party. Any party who is not the "client" or 

intended user identified on the face of the appraisal or in the engagement letter is not entitled to rely upon the 

contents of the appraisal without the express written consent of Valbridge Property Advisors |Alabama-Florida 

Panhandle.  “Client” shall not include partners, affiliates or relatives of the party named in the engagement letter.  

Client shall hold Appraiser harmless in the event of any lawsuit brought by any third party, lender, partner or part 

owner in any form of ownership or any other party as a result of this assignment.   

18. Distribution of this report is at the sole discretion of the client, and the Appraiser will make no distribution without 

the specific direction of the client.  However, in no event shall client give a third party a partial copy of the appraisal 

report. 

19. This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties. No other agreement, statement or promise made on 

or before the effective date of this agreement will be binding on the parties. This agreement may be modified by 

subsequent agreement of the parties. 

 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5157













RESOLUTION NUMBER 5160 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO TAKE ALL 
ACTIONS NECESSARY TO REPLACE A 2.5 TON AIR CONDITIONING 
UNIT AT JAMES F. WYATT FIRE STATION NUMBER 5 

 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to take all actions necessary in order to replace a 

2.5 ton air conditioning unit at James F. Wyatt Fire Station Number 5 at a cost not to exceed 

$9,000 as detailed in the attached proposal from Comfort Systems USA marked as Exhibit 

A, attached to and incorporated into this Resolution Number 5160 as if written fully 

therein; and 

2. This Resolution Number 5160 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 13th day of May, 2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Rusty Weaver 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 



 
3100 Richard Arrington Jr Blvd. N 
Birmingham, Al. 35203 
205-664-3300 
 
 
May 6, 2019 
 
 
Attn:  Brian Davis 
 
Re:  Fire Station #5 Unit Replacement 
 
Comfort Systems USA proposes to replace (1) 2.5 ton gas pack roof top unit.  Comfort Systems USA 
standard terms and conditions apply.  Our estimated price for this work will be:  
  

Eight Thousand Eight Hundred Forty Dollars:  $8,840.00 
 
Work to be performed: 
 

 Demo and remove existing Trane unit. 
 Furnish and install (1) new Trane 2.5 ton equivalent unit. 
 Reuse existing power and disconnect.   
 Reuse existing gas supply and only make necessary additions to account for curb adaptor 

height. 
 New curb adaptor. 
 Crane provided for lifting requirements. 
 Work verification and start up. 
 Work to be performed during normal business hours (Monday-Friday 8 a.m. to 5 p.m.)  

 
 
Proposal does not include: 

 Anything not listed in this proposal 
 Portable cooling or heating equipment during the job. 

 
 
Please do not hesitate to call if you have any further questions. We look forward to doing business with 
you.  
 
 
Thanks, 
 
Brian Fancher 
 
 

 
Cell: 205-552-2777 
brian.fancher@comfortsystemsusa.com 
 
 
Please return this proposal with a signature which I will use as our “letter to proceed with work” 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5160



 
 
 
Authorized Signature_____________________________________ Date_________________ 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5160



RESOLUTION NUMBER 5158 
 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING A BID FOR A PEDESTRIAN TUNNEL 
UNDER SICARD HOLLOW ROAD AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER TO TAKE ALL ACTIONS NECESSARY TO SECURE SAID 
CONSTRUCTION 

 
 WHEREAS, in December, 2014, the City of Vestavia Hills entered into an agreement with 

Alabama Department of Transportation (“ALDOT”) for grant funding for a proposed pedestrian 

tunnel connecting parks across Sicard Hollow Road, a copy of which is marked as Exhibit A and 

is attached to and incorporated into this Resolution Number 5158; and 

 WHEREAS, on May 8, 2018, the Metropolitan Planning Organization (“MPO”) amended 

said agreement to increase Federal participation in the previously awarded grant; and 

 WHEREAS, Invitation to Bids were invited and publically read on March 21, 2019 with 

two bids received; and 

 WHEREAS, recommendation was made via memorandum to accept the bid package 

submitted by Gillespie Construction LLC, a copy of which is marked as Exhibit B and is attached 

to and incorporated into this Resolution Number 5158 as if written fully therein; and 

 WHEREAS, anticipated expenditures with anticipated utility relocations as well as 

reimbursement from TAP funding agreements are detailed in an email sent by the City Engineer 

on May 8, 2019, a copy of which is marked as Exhibit C attached to and incorporated into this 

Resolution Number 5158 as if written fully therein; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and the City Council feel it is in the best interest of the public to 

accept said bid as recommended. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The bid package submitted by Gillespie Construction LLC is hereby accepted; and 

2. The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute and deliver all agreements necessary in 

order to secure said construction; and 

3. This Resolution number 5158 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

 

 



ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 20th day of May, 2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5158



Exhibit B - Resolution No. 5158



CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS
Sicard Hollow Road Pedestrian Tunnel

ALDOT Project No.TAPAA‐TA14(931)

BID OPENING: April 3, 2019, 10am

BID TABULATION

Line No. Item No. Description Unit Bid Qty Unit Price Total Price Unit Price Total Price

1 201A‐002 Clearing & Grubbing (Maximum 

Allowable Bid $4000 per 

LS 1 4,000.00$        4,000.00$                     4,000.00$        4,000.00$                    

2 206D‐001 Removing Guardrail LF 113 17.88$             2,020.44$                     20.00$             2,260.00$                    

3 210A‐000 Unclassified Excavation CY 1312 33.15$             43,492.80$                   40.00$             52,480.00$                  

4 214A‐000 Structure Excavation CY 550 63.51$             34,930.50$                   40.00$             22,000.00$                  

5 214B‐001 Foundation Backfill,  CY 120 71.22$             8,546.40$                     65.00$             7,800.00$                    

6 301A‐012 Crushed Agg Base Course, Type 

B, Plant Mix, 6" Compacted 

SY 456 15.50$             7,068.00$                     30.00$             13,680.00$                  

7 401A‐000 Bituminous Treatment A SY 456 16.98$             7,742.88$                     17.00$             7,752.00$                    

8 405A‐000 Tack Coat GAL 21 5.07$               106.47$                        10.00$             210.00$                       

9 407B‐000 Joint Sealant for Hot Mix MI 1 216.33$           216.33$                        200.00$           200.00$                       

10 408A‐052 Planing Existing Pavement (1.1"  SY 374 41.72$             15,603.28$                   40.00$             14,960.00$                  

11 424A‐340 Superpave Bituminous Concete 

Wearing Surface, 1/2" max Agg, 

TON 65 327.78$           21,305.70$                   310.00$           20,150.00$                  

12 424B‐636 Superpave Bituminous Concete  TON 77 464.85$           35,793.45$                   425.00$           32,725.00$                  

13 502A‐000 Steel Reinforcement LB 18966 4.00$               75,864.00$                   1.40$               26,552.40$                  

14 524A‐010 Culvert Concrete CY 116 3,750.00$        435,000.00$                 825.00$           95,700.00$                  

15 529A‐010 Retaining Wall SF 684 264.39$           180,842.76$                 55.00$             37,620.00$                  

16 600A‐000 Mobilization LS 1 160,000.00$   160,000.00$                 50,000.00$      50,000.00$                  

17 610C‐001 Loose Riprap, Class 2 TON 254 42.25$             10,731.50$                   50.00$             12,700.00$                  

18 610D‐003 Filter Blanket SY 580 3.32$               1,925.60$                     6.00$               3,480.00$                    

19 614A‐000 Slope Paving CY 4 500.00$           2,000.00$                     850.00$           3,400.00$                    

20 618A‐000 Concrete Sidewalk, 4" thick SY 230 59.60$             13,708.00$                   65.00$             14,950.00$                  

21 630A‐001 Steel Beam Guardrail, Class A,  LF 113 83.43$             9,427.59$                     120.00$           13,560.00$                  

22 634A‐014 Industrial Fence, 4 Feet High,  LF 171 30.00$             5,130.00$                     50.00$             8,550.00$                    

23 650A‐000 Topsoil CY 270 30.65$             8,275.50$                     30.00$             8,100.00$                    

24 654A‐001 Solid Sodding, Bermuda SY 2462 7.22$               17,775.64$                   6.00$               14,772.00$                  

25 664A‐000 Temporary Seeding ACRE 1 603.11$           603.11$                        500.00$           500.00$                       

26 665B‐001 Temporary Mulching TON 3 541.13$           1,623.39$                     200.00$           600.00$                       

27 665Q‐002 Wattle LF 896 9.05$               8,108.80$                     6.00$               5,376.00$                    

28 665T‐000 Temporary Earth Berms LF 43 5.96$               256.28$                        120.00$           5,160.00$                    

29 674A‐000 Construction Safety Fence LF 200 4.82$               964.00$                        5.00$               1,000.00$                    

30 680A‐001 Geometric Controls LS 1 25,000.00$      25,000.00$                   7,500.00$        7,500.00$                    

31 698A‐000 Construction Fuel, Max Bid  LS 1 7,500.00$        7,500.00$                     ‐$                 ‐$                              

32 701G‐253 Solid White, Class 2 Traffic  LF 600 0.89$               534.00$                        5.00$               3,000.00$                    

33 401G‐265 Solid Yellow Class 2 Traffic  LF 600 0.89$               534.00$                        5.00$               3,000.00$                    

34 703D‐001 Temporary Traffic Control  SF 1200 2.38$               2,856.00$                     6.00$               7,200.00$                    

35 705A‐005 Pavement Markers, Class A EA 8 5.96$               47.68$                          100.00$           800.00$                       

36 726A‐000 Portable Concrete Safety  LF 280 65.56$             18,356.80$                   60.00$             16,800.00$                  

37 726A‐001 Portable Concrete Safety  LF 10 23.84$             238.40$                        60.00$             600.00$                       

38 726D‐025 Portable Impact Attenuator EA 1 15,196.97$      15,196.97$                   15,000.00$      15,000.00$                  

39 740B‐000 Construction Signs SF 130 13.71$             1,782.30$                     20.00$             2,600.00$                    

40 740D‐000 Channelizing Drums EA 26 53.64$             1,394.64$                     100.00$           2,600.00$                    

41 740E‐000 Cones EA 26 26.22$             681.72$                        50.00$             1,300.00$                    

42 740F‐002 Barricades, Type III EA 4 226.46$           905.84$                        300.00$           1,200.00$                    

43 740I‐002 Warning Lights, Type B EA 2 125.15$           250.30$                        100.00$           200.00$                       

44 740M‐001 Ballast for Cone EA 26 12.52$             325.52$                        2.00$               52.00$                         

45 Lighting LS 1 82,000.00$      82,000.00$                   36,500.00$      36,500.00$                  

Non‐Federal Participation Item

46 Water Main Relocation LF 211 850.00$           179,350.00$                 $1113.74* 235,000.00$                

1,450,016.59$             813,589.40$                

Bid Bond? yes   _X_    no  ___   yes   _X_    no  ___  
Contractor's License No.? yes   _X_    no  ___   yes   _X_    no  ___  

* price entered in unit price column was entered as a lump sum; this amount is caluclated from the lump sum

Total Bid Price

Forestry Environmental Gillespie Construction

Exhibit B - Resolution No. 5158



1

Rebecca Leavings

From: Christopher Brady
Sent: Wednesday, May 08, 2019 10:56 AM
To: Rebecca Leavings
Cc: Jeff Downes; Brian Davis
Subject: RE: council agenda
Attachments: 2019_04_16_12_37_13.pdf

Sicard Hollow Tunnel funding agreement is TAPAA‐TA14(931), approved Res 4643, Oct 2014, funding agreement dated 
Dec 2014 (attache).  This agreement is anticipated to be amended with additional funding approved by MPO (meeting 
today, 5/8); increasing FED participation by $200k and City match by $50k. 
 
Anticipated construction costs…..  813,589.40  (Gillespie Construction) 
                                Includes anticipated utility relocation costs…..$235,000 
Anticipated CE&I…………………………  99,408.04 (Volkert) 
                Total Anticipated Construction Costs….  $912,997.44 
 
Anticipated reimbursement from TAP funding agreement…. $578,966  (eligible construction costs including CE&I) 
Required City Match per TAP funding agreement…………………  $144,741 
                Balance of utility relocation costs, upto $235,000, being requested to be offset by BWWB. 
 
Please let me know if questions 
 

 
 
Christopher Brady, City Engineer 
Department of Public Services 
P 205 978 0150 | vhal.org 
City of Vestavia Hills 

   
 

From: Christopher Brady  
Sent: Wednesday, May 08, 2019 10:14 AM 
To: Rebecca Leavings 
Cc: Jeff Downes; Brian Davis 
Subject: council agenda 
 
See attached for Council agenda, approval of bid for Sicard Hollow Tunnel project.  
 
We are working on a funding summary; Jeff or I will give you an update as you finalize, but see my following email as a 
tentative summary. 

Exhibit C - Resolution No. 5158



RESOLUTION NUMBER 5159 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE 
AND DELIVER AN AGREEMENT WITH VOLKERT, INC., TO 
PERFORM CEI SERVICES FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF A 
PEDESTRIAN TUNNEL UNDER SICARD HOLLOW ROAD; CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS PROJECT TAPAA-TA14(931) 

 
 WHEREAS, on May 20, 2019, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills approved 

and adopted Resolution Number 5158 to authorize construction of a pedestrian tunnel under Sicard 

Hollow Road; and 

 WHEREAS, Vokert, Inc., has submitted an agreement for CEI services for the 

construction of said tunnel, a copy of which is marked as Exhibit A, attached to and incorporated 

into this Resolution Number 5159 as though written fully therein; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and the City Council feel it is in the best interest of the public to 

accept said proposal for professional services as written. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute and deliver an agreement as proposed 

by Volkert, Inc., for CEI services in an amount not to exceed $100,000; and 

2. This Resolution number 5159 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 20th day of May, 2019. 

 
 
 
 
      Ashley C. Curry 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



AGREEMENT 
 
This Agreement made and entered into this           day of                    , 2019 by and 
between City of Vestavia Hills, hereinafter referred to as the Owner, and Volkert, Inc., 
hereinafter referred to as the Consultant; WITNESSETH THAT: 
 
WHEREAS, the OWNER desires to retain the CONSULTANT to perform certain 
professional planning, programming, and engineering services as outlined in the Scope 
of Services; 
 
WHEREAS, the CONSULTANT desires to perform said professional services for the 
Owner; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter 
stipulated to be kept and performed, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 

ARTICLE I – SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
SECTION I – GENERAL SERVICES 
 
The Consultant shall perform certain professional construction engineering and 
inspection services related to the City of Vestavia Hills Project TAPAA-TA14(931) for 
the Pedestrian Tunnel under Sicard  Hollow Road in Jefferson County, Alabama, in 
accordance with Article I, Scope of Work, of the agreement between the Consultant and 
the State dated April 10, 2017 (attached as Exhibit “A”).   
 
SECTION II – SPECIAL SERVICES 
 
At the written request of the OWNER, the CONSULTANT shall accomplish such special 
services as required by the OWNER.  When the CONSULTANT is requested to provide 
special services, such services may be provided by CONSULTANT’S own forces or 
through subcontracts with other professionals.  However, contracts with other 
professionals for special services must have the written approval of the OWNER before 
the work is initiated.  Special services which may be requested include, but are not 
necessarily limited to the following: 
 
A. Land Surveys as necessary to establish property boundaries required for 

property acquisition purposes or preparation of property maps. 
 
B. Soils and Materials Investigations including test borings, laboratory and field 

testing of soils and materials and related reports as required for design and 
construction quality control purposes. 

 
C. Engineering Surveys (for design and construction) to include topographic 

surveys, base line surveys, cross section surveys, aerial photography, etc., as 
required and approved by the OWNER. 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5159



 
D. Inspection of construction by project representative as approved by the OWNER.  

When authorized by the OWNER, the duties, responsibilities and limitations of 
authority shall be included in a supplemental agreement. 

 
E. Assistance to the OWNER as expert witness in litigation arising from 

development or construction of project as determined appropriate by OWNER 
and CONSULTANT. 

 
F. Accomplishment of special surveys and investigations, and the preparation of 

special reports and drawings as may be requested or authorized in writing by the 
OWNER. 

 
G. Preparation of pre-applications and applications for federal and/or state 

assistance grants for funding of projects. 
 

ARTICLE II – GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
SECTION I – RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE OWNER 
 
As a party to this Agreement, the OWNER shall: 
 
A. Make available for CONSULTANT’S use all record drawings, maps, soil data, 

etc. that are readily available to the OWNER, and the CONSULTANT shall have 
the right to rely upon the completeness and accuracy thereof. 

 
B. Designate a person to act with authority on OWNER’S behalf and respond in a 

timely manner to submissions by CONSULTANT providing approvals and 
authorizations as appropriate so that work may continue at a normal pace. 

 
C. Pay all costs associated with special services authorized by the OWNER, and all 

costs associated with obtaining bids from contractors. 
 

 
SECTION II - METHOD OF PAYMENT 
 
The Consultant agrees to provide professional services for all services included in 
Article I - Scope of Services and the City agrees to pay the Consultant as compensation 
for its services in accordance with Article III, Payment, of the attached agreement 
(Exhibit “A”) between the Consultant and the State. The maximum fee payable under 
this agreement is ninety nine thousand four hundred eight dollars and 04 cents 
($99,408.04), which is based on a construction duration of sixty (60) calendar days. If 
the construction duration exceeds sixty (60) calendar days, the fee will be increased by 
supplemental agreement. 
 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5159



A. Partial payments for all services performed by the CONSULTANT under the 
terms of the Agreement shall be made no more often than monthly to the 
CONSULTANT by the OWNER upon receipt of invoices and other evidence of 
performance as may be deemed necessary by the OWNER.  Payments shall be 
due and payable within thirty (30) days of the date of invoice. The OWNER shall 
reimburse CONSULTANT for any expenses, including legal costs, incurred in 
collection of outstanding amounts due from OWNER. 

 
B. For Projects involving a supplemental agreement, the scope of services and 

amount of compensation to be paid will be included therein. 
 
C. The OWNER will pay the CONSULTANT for special services performed by 

subconsultants at the actual invoice amount times a factor of 1.10 for assisting 
and coordinating the subconsultant’s services. 

 
D. Reimbursable expenses are defined in Attachment 1 of Exhibit “A” attached. 

 
E. The OWNER as purchaser of the services described herein shall pay any 

applicable sales tax in the manner and in the amount as required by law. 
 
F. Payment shall be made payable to Volkert, Inc. and submitted to the following 

address:  Dept. #2042, Volkert, Inc., P.O. Box 11407, Birmingham, AL 35246-
2042 

 
SECTION III – MISCELLANEOUS 
 
A. Extra Work:  It is mutually understood and agreed that the OWNER will 

compensate the CONSULTANT for services resulting from changes in the scope 
of a project or its design, including but not necessarily limited to, change in size, 
complexity, project schedules, character of construction, revisions to previously 
accepted studies, reports, design documents or contract documents and for 
preparation of documents for separate bids, when such revisions are due to 
causes beyond the CONSULTANT’S control and when requested or authorized 
by the OWNER.  Compensation for such extra work when authorized by the 
OWNER shall be mutually agreed upon prior to beginning work. 

 
B. Ownership and Reuse of Documents: All Project documents including but not 

necessarily limited to reports, drawings, studies, findings, correspondence, 
specifications, survey notes, estimates, maps, computations, calculations, 
computer files, Computer Assisted Design and Drafting (CADD) files (electronic 
and hard copy), and other data, as well as any and all other documents and other 
materials prepared, generated, or furnished by or for CONSULTANT and/or its 
Subconsultant(s) for the Project pursuant to this Agreement (hereinafter referred 
to in this Section B. as “Documents”) are instruments of service with respect to 
the Project, and CONSULTANT shall retain an ownership and intellectual 
property interest therein regardless whether the Project is completed.  OWNER 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5159



may make and retain copies thereof for information and reference in connection 
with the use and/or occupancy of the Project by OWNERS and others.  However, 
such Documents are not intended for reuse or future use by OWNER or others 
for any purpose whatsoever or on any other project.  No representation is made 
that such Documents are or will be suitable for reuse or future use by OWNER or 
others for any purpose whatsoever or on any other project.  Any use of such 
Documents by OWNER or others on any project other than the project which is 
the subject of this Agreement is not advised and shall be done without warranty, 
representation, or liability to any extent whatsoever on the part of 
CONSULTANT.  OWNER shall defend, indemnify, save and hold harmless 
CONSULTANT, its officers, directors, employees, agents, successors, and 
assigns against any and all liability for any and all claims, demands, fines, fees, 
damages, actions, causes of action, lawsuits, expenses (including attorneys’ 
fees), mediations, and arbitrations arising out of, resulting from, or relating in any 
way to the OWNER’S use of such Documents. 

 
C. Exclusivity of Remedies:  To the fullest extent permitted by law, the total liability, 

in the aggregate, of CONSULTANT and CONSULTANT’S officers, directors, 
employees, agents and independent professional associates and consultants, 
and of any of them, to OWNER and anyone claiming by, through or under 
OWNER, for any and all injuries, claims, losses, expenses or damages 
whatsoever arising out of or in any way related to CONSULTANT’S services, the 
project or this agreement from any cause or causes whatsoever, including but 
not limited to the negligence, errors, omissions, strict liability or breach of 
contract by CONSULTANT or CONSULTANT’S officers, directors, employees, 
agents or independent professional associates or consultants, or any of them, 
shall be limited to and shall not exceed the total compensation received by 
CONSULTANT under this agreement. 

 
D. Indemnification: To the fullest extent permitted by law, and up to the limits of 

the exclusivity of remedies provision, supra, CONSULTANT shall indemnify 
OWNER and OWNER’S officers, directors and employees for costs, losses, 
judgments, damages and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) to the 
extent caused by the negligent acts, errors and omissions of CONSULTANT in 
the performance of its professional services hereunder.  In any matters involving 
allegations of negligent performance of professional services by CONSULTANT, 
CONSULTANT’S defense duties under this indemnification provision (which are 
expressly disclaimed) shall include only reimbursement of reasonable defense 
costs to the extent incurred as a proximate result of CONSULTANT’S actual 
negligent performance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5159



E. Insurance:  CONSULTANT shall furnish OWNER with Certificate of Insurance 
confirming following forms and minimum limits of insurance: 

 
TYPE OF COVERAGE                               LIMITS 

 
I.  Worker Compensation                    State – Statutory 

        Employer Liability                           $500,000 per accident 
                                                                     $500,000 disease/each accident 
                                                                      $500,000 disease/policy limit 
 

II. Comprehensive or Commercial     $1,000,000 per person bodily injury 
         General Liability                              $1,000,000 per occurrence bodily injury                                                                        
              $1,000,000 property damage 
                                                                     $2,000,000 policy aggregate 
 

III. Automobile Liability                       $1,000,000 combined single limit 
  

IV. Professional Liability                     $2,000,000 
 
 
F. Termination:   In the event of failure by the CONSULTANT to fulfill in timely and 

proper manner CONSULTANT’S obligations under this contract, or if the 
CONSULTANT violates any of the covenants, agreements, or stipulations of this 
contract, the OWNER shall thereupon have the right to terminate this contract by 
written notice to the CONSULTANT of such termination, specifying the effective 
date thereof at least five days before the effective date of such termination. 

 
G. Contract Period:  All contracts, agreements, provisions and stipulations of this 

Agreement shall remain in full force for a period of 18 months from the date of 
the Agreement, and for such periods as the contract time may be extended by 
mutual written agreement between the OWNER and the CONSULTANT. 

 
H. Successors and Assigns: 
 
 1. OWNER and CONSULTANT each is hereby bound and the partners, 

successors, executors, administrators and legal representatives of 
OWNER and CONSULTANT (and to the extent permitted by paragraph 2, 
the assigns of OWNER and CONSULTANT) are hereby bound to the 
other party to this Agreement and to the partners, successors, executors, 
administrators and legal representatives (and said assigns) of such other 
party, in respect of all covenants, agreements and obligations of this 
Agreement. 

 
 2. Neither OWNER nor CONSULTANT shall assign, sublet or transfer any 

rights under or interest in (including, but without limitation, monies that 
may become due or monies that are due) this Agreement without the 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5159



written consent of the other, except to the extent that any assignment, 
subletting or transfer is mandated by law or the effect of this limitation may 
be restricted by law.  Unless specifically stated to the contrary in any 
written consent to an assignment, no assignment will release or discharge 
the assignor from any duty or responsibility under this Agreement.  
Nothing contained in this paragraph shall prevent CONSULTANT from 
employing such independent professional associates and consultants as 
CONSULTANT may deem appropriate to assist in performance of 
services hereunder. 

 
 3. Nothing under this Agreement shall be construed to give any right or 

benefits in this Agreement to anyone other than OWNER and 
CONSULTANT, and all duties and responsibilities undertaken pursuant to 
this Agreement will be for the sole and exclusive benefit of OWNER and 
CONSULTANT and not for the benefit of any other party. 

 
I. Dispute Resolution:  If a dispute arises out of or relates to this Agreement or its 

alleged breach, the OWNER and CONSULTANT shall direct their 
representatives to endeavor to settle the dispute first through direct discussions.  
If the dispute cannot be resolved through direct discussions, the OWNER and 
CONSULTANT shall participate in mediation under the Construction Industry 
Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association then in effect unless the 
parties mutually agree otherwise, before recourse to litigation.  The OWNER’S 
and CONSULTANT’S representatives shall attend all mediation sessions.  
Engaging in mediation is a condition precedent to litigation.  Should mediation fail 
to resolve the dispute, the parties shall engage in arbitration in accordance with 
the Construction Industry Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration 
Association then in effect unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, before 
recourse to litigation.  Arbitration is a condition precedent to litigation.  Only after 
the parties have exhausted direct discussions, mediation, AND arbitration in 
accordance with the foregoing shall either of them be entitled to initiate litigation.  
Should either party initiate litigation prior to engaging in direct discussions, good 
faith mediation, and arbitration, it shall pay all attorneys’ fees and expenses and 
other costs incurred by the other party in responding to said litigation. 

 
 

J. Right of Entry:  OWNER shall furnish right-of-way on the property for 
CONSULTANT to perform undisturbed the Services hereunder.  CONSULTANT 
shall take reasonable precautions to minimize damage to the property during the 
course of its services.  OWNER acknowledges that a certain amount of damage, 
wear and tear, and depreciation is likely to result from CONSULTANT’S 
operations on the property in furtherance of CONSULTANT’S Services under this 
Agreement.  The cost for restoration or remediation of damaged property which 
may result from CONSULTANT’S operations is not included in CONSULTANT’S 
compensation hereunder unless explicitly stated otherwise in this Agreement.  If 
the property is damaged during CONSULTANT’S operations and if OWNER 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5159



desires CONSULTANT to restore or remediate the property to its former 
condition, CONSULTANT will do so for additional costs in accordance with the 
fee schedule referenced herein. 

 
K. Standard of Care:  CONSULTANT shall perform its services hereunder 

consistent with the professional skill and care ordinarily exercised under similar 
conditions by similarly situated professional consultants practicing in the same 
field at the same time in the same or similar locality.  CONSULTANT shall 
perform its services as expeditiously as is consistent with such professional skill 
and care and the orderly progress of the Project.  No warranty, express or 
implied, is made or intended related to the services provided herein, and 
CONSULTANT guarantees no particular result. 

 
L. Disclaimer of Third-Party Benefits:  OWNER and CONSULTANT expressly 

disclaim third-party beneficiaries hereunder and no one not a Party to the 
Agreement shall be entitled to seek enforcement against OWNER and/or 
CONSULTANT of any provision herein, or to otherwise seek damages from 
either Party for the alleged breach of any provision contained herein or purported 
duty or standard created or conferred hereunder.  It is specifically agreed 
between the parties executing this Agreement that it is not intended by any of the 
provisions of any part of the Agreement to create in the public or any member 
thereof a third party beneficiary hereunder, or to authorize anyone not a Party to 
the Agreement to maintain a claim, cause of action, lien or any other damages or 
any relief of any kind pursuant to the terms and provisions of this Agreement. 
 

M. Waiver of Consequential Damages:  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Agreement, and to the fullest extent permitted by law, neither OWNER nor 
CONSULTANT, their respective officers, directors, partners, employees, 
contractors or subconsultants shall be liable to the other or shall make any claim 
for any incidental, indirect or consequential damages arising out of or connected 
in any way to the Project or to this Agreement.  This mutual waiver of 
consequential damages shall include, but is not limited to, loss of use, loss of 
profit, loss of business, loss of income, loss of reputation, or any other 
consequential damages that either party may have incurred from any cause of 
action including negligence, strict liability, breach of contract and breach of strict 
or implied warranty.  Both OWNER and CONSULTANT shall require similar 
waivers of consequential damages protecting all of the entities and persons 
named herein in all contracts and subcontracts with others involved in this 
Project. 

 
N. Jurisdiction/Venue:  It is expressly agreed and stipulated between the parties that 

this contract shall be deemed to have been executed in the State of Alabama 
where the principal office of Volkert, Inc. is located.  This contract shall be 
governed by the laws of the State of Alabama.  The Circuit or District Court of the 
Thirteenth Judicial Circuit of Alabama, Mobile County, Alabama, shall have 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5159



jurisdiction over any dispute which arises under this contract, and each of the 
parties shall submit and hereby consents to the jurisdiction of either such court. 
 

 
This agreement shall comply with the terms and conditions of the Alabama Department 
of Transportation statewide CE&I Contract and applicable portions thereof.  The terms 
and conditions of CE&I Contract are hereby made a part of this agreement by reference 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Agreement 
in duplicate as of the day and year first above written. 
 
ATTEST:   

 
   

Title  Title 

 
  Federal Employer 

ID # (Corporation): 
 

 
  Social Security # 

(Individual): 

 

   
ATTEST:   

 
  

Cornelia Sides Project Manager  John W. Nelson Vice President 

 

Exhibit A - Resolution No. 5159


	2019_0513CC_A
	Proclamation National Public Works Weekl
	Proclamation Nat Police Week k2019
	2019_0410 0416_CC_work session
	2019_0415_CC_work session
	2019_0422CC_M
	Ordinance 2840
	Ordinance 2846
	Ordinance 2848
	Resolution 5157

	Resolution 5160
	Resolution 5158
	Resolution 5159



